# WINDSTREAM D&E SYSTEMS, LLC

# REGULATIONS AND SCHEDULE OF INTRASTATE CHARGES GOVERNING THE PROVISION OF SWITCHED AND SPECIAL ACCESS SERVICES FOR CONNECTION TO COMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES WITHIN THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

Telephone - PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 hereby supersedes and cancels the previous existing D&E Systems, Inc. PA P.U.C. Access No. 4

This Tariff Establishes Rates and Regulations for Intrastate Access Services in the service areas of Verizon Pennsylvania Inc., Verizon North Inc., and CenturyLink within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

See Sheet A

Issued: August 29, 2023 Effective: August 30, 2023

Vice President Regulatory Affairs 4001 N. Rodney Parham Road, Little Rock, AR 72212

Supplement No. 9 to Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 First Revised Title Page Cancels Original Title Page

WINDSTREAM D&E SYSTEMS, LLC

**(C)** 

# REGULATIONS AND SCHEDULE OF INTRASTATE CHARGES GOVERNING THE PROVISION OF SWITCHED AND SPECIAL ACCESS SERVICES FOR CONNECTION TO COMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES WITHIN THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

Telephone - PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 hereby supercedes and cancels the previous existing D&E Systems, Inc. PA P.U.C. Access No. 4

See Sheet A

Issued: August 29, 2023 Effective: August 30, 2023

Supplement No. 9 to Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 Ninth Revised Sheet A Cancels Eighth Revised Sheet A

Windstream D&E Systems, LLC

**(C)** 

#### LIST OF MODIFICATIONS

Tariff pages included with this filing:

Supplement Title Page Updates Company Name, Address and Supplement Number 1st Revised Title Page Updates Company Name, Address and Supplement Number

9<sup>th</sup> Revised Sheet A Updates List of Modifications

9<sup>th</sup> Revised Sheet B Updates Check Sheet

Issued: August 29, 2023 Effective: August 30, 2023

Check Sheet								
			Title Page		*			
			Title Page		First *			
			Sheet A		Ninth*			
			Sheet B		Ninth*			
			Sheet C		Eighth			
			Preface Page 1		Original			
			Preface Page 2		Original			
_		_	Preface Page 3		Original			_
Sec.	Sheet	Rev.	Sec.	Sheet	Rev.	Sec.	Sheet	Rev.
1	1	1st	2	24	Orig.	3	19	Orig.
1	2	1st	2	25	Orig.	3	20	Orig.
2	1	Orig.	2	26	Orig.	3	21	Orig.
2	2	Orig.	2	27	Orig.	3	22	Orig.
2	3	Orig.	2	28	Orig.	3	23	Orig.
2	4	Orig.	2	29	Orig.	3	24	1 <sup>st</sup>
2	5	Orig.	2	30	Orig.	3	25	1 <sup>st</sup>
2	6	Orig.	2	31	Orig.	3	26	$1^{st}$
2	7	Orig.	2	32	Orig.	3	27	Orig.
2	8	Orig.	2	33	Orig.	3	28	Orig.
2	9	Orig.	2	34	Orig.	3	29	Orig.
2	10	Orig.	2	35	Orig.	3	30	Orig.
2	11	Orig.	2	36	Orig.	3	31	Orig.
2	12	Orig.	2	37	Orig.	3	32	Orig.
2	13	Orig.	2	38	Orig.	3	33	Orig.
2	14	Orig.	2	39	Orig.	3	34	Orig.
2	15	Orig.	3	1	Orig.	3	35	Orig.
2	15.1	Orig	3	2	Orig.	3	36	Orig.
2	15.2	Orig	3	3	Orig.	3	37	Orig.
2	15.3	Orig	3	4	Orig.	3	38	Orig.
2	15.4	Orig	3	5	Orig.	3	39	Orig.
2	16	Orig.	3	6	Orig.	3	40	Orig.
2	17	Orig.	3	7	Orig.	3	41	Orig.
2	18	Orig.	3	8	Orig.	3	42	Orig.
2	19	Orig.	3	9	Orig.	3	43	Orig.
2	20	Orig.	3	10	Orig.	3	44	Orig.
2	16	Orig.	3	11	Orig.	3	45	Orig.
2	17	Orig.	3	12	Orig.	3	46	Orig.
2	21	Orig.	3	13	Orig.	3	47	Orig.
2	22	Orig.	3	14	Orig.	3	48	Orig.
2	23	Orig.	3	15	Orig.	3	49	Orig.
		-	3	16	Orig.	3	50	Orig.
			3	17	Orig.	3	51	Orig.
			3	18	Orig.	3	52	Orig.

18 Effective: August 30, 2023 Issued: August 29, 2023

Sec. 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	Sheet 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72	Rev. Orig.	Sec. 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	Sheet 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	Rev. Orig.	Sec. <b>5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5</b>	Sheet <b>7.0.1 7.1</b> 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	Rev. Orig.* 5th * Orig.
3 3								
3								
3								
3								
3					Orig.			
3	73	Orig.	5	1	3 <sup>rd</sup> *			
3 3	74	Orig.	5	2	Orig.			
	75	Orig.	5	3	Orig.			
3	76	Orig.	5	4	Orig.			
3	77	Orig.	5	5	3 <sup>rd</sup> *			
3	78	Orig.	5	6	4th			
3	79	Orig.	5	7	3 <sup>rd</sup> *			

Issued: June 1, 2021 Effective: July 1, 2021

Senior Regulatory Counsel 4001 Rodney Parham Road, Little Rock, AR 72212

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS, REFERENCE	Section Preface	Page 1
MARKS, AND ABBREVIATIONS OF TECHNICAL TERMS USED IN THIS TARIFF	Preface	2
APPLICATION OF TARIFF	Preface	3
DEFINITIONS	1	1
REGULATIONS	2	
2.1 Undertaking of the Company	2	1
2.2 Prohibited Uses	2	9
2.3 Obligations of the Customer	2	10
2.4 Customer Equipment and Channels	2	16
2.5 Customer Deposits and Advance Payments	2	17
2.6 Payment Arrangements	2	19
2.7 Allowances for Interruptions in Service	2	30
2.8 Cancellation of Service/Termination Liability	2	34
2.9 Privacy Rules	2	35
2.10 Application of Rates	2	36
SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS	3	
3.1 Switched Access Service	3	1
3.2 Special Access Service	3	27
3.3 Miscellaneous Access Services	3	86
MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES	4	
4.1 General	4	1
4.2 Automatic Number Identification	4	1
4.3 Billing Name and Address Service	4	2
4.4 Service Provider Number Portability	4	7
4.5 Off-net Service	4	13
RATES	5	
5.1 Switched Access Rates	5	1
5.2 Special Access Rates	5	8
5.3 Miscellaneous Access Rates	5	16
5.4 Miscellaneous Rates	5	16

Preface - Original Page 2

# EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS, REFERENCE MARKS, AND ABBREVIATIONS OF TECHNICAL TERMS USED IN THIS TARIFF

The following symbols shall be used in this tariff for the purpose indicated below:

- C To signify changed regulation or rate structure.
- D To signify a decreased rate.
- I To signify an increased rate.

# Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6

Windstream D&E Systems, Inc.

Preface - Original Page 3

# **APPLICATION**

This tariff applies to intrastate access service supplied to customers for origination and termination of traffic to and from Central Office codes directly assigned to Windstream D&E Systems, Inc. hereafter referred to as the "Company" or the "Telephone Company."

Section 1 First Revised Page 1 Cancels Original Page 1

#### DEFINITIONS

Certain terms used generally throughout this tariff are described below.

#### Advance Payment

Part or all of a payment required before the start of service.

#### **Access Services**

The Company's intrastate telephone services offered pursuant to this Tariff.

#### Company or D&E

Windstream D&E Systems, Inc. the issuer of this Tariff.

#### Customer

(C)

The term "Customer(s)" denotes any individual, partnership, association, joint-stock company, trust, corporation, or governmental entity or other entity which subscribes to the services offered under this tariff, including but not limited to Interexchange Carriers (ICs), End Users and other telecommunications carriers or providers originating or terminating toll VoIP-PSTN traffic.(C)

#### End Office

With respect to each NPA-NXX code prefix assigned to the Company, the location of the Company's "end-office" for purposes of this Tariff shall be the point of interconnection associated with that NPA-NXX code in the Local Exchange Routing Guide, issued by Bellcore.

#### End User

A person or entity that subscribes to any D&E Exchange Access Service offered under the Company's Pennsylvania Tariff and that has been assigned one or more telephone number(s) within a central office code (NPA-NXX) directly assigned to the Company.

#### LATA

A Local Access and Transport Area established pursuant to the Modification of Final Judgment entered by the United States District Court for the District of Columbia in Civil Action No. 82-0192; or any other geographic area designated as a LATA in the NATIONAL EXCHANGE CARRIER ASSOCIATION, INC. TARIFF F.C.C. NO. 4.

#### Off-Net Service

Service to the customer's physical location is provided through the use, purchase or lease of the facilities of another local access provider.

# Recurring Charges

The monthly charges to the Customer for services, facilities and equipment which continue for the agreed upon duration of the service.

Section 1 First Revised Page 2 Cancels Original Page 2

#### **DEFINITIONS**

#### Service Commencement Date

The first date on which the Company notifies the Customer that the requested service or facility is available for use, unless extended by the Customer's refusal to accept service which does not conform to standards set forth in the Service Order of this tariff, in which case the Service Commencement Date is the date of the Customer's acceptance. The Company and the Customer may mutually agree on a substitute Service Commencement Date. If the Company does not have an executed Service Order from a customer, the Service Commencement Date will be the first date on which the service or facility was used by a customer.

#### Service Order

The written request for access services executed by the Customer and the Company in the format devised by the Company. The signing of a Service Order by the Customer and acceptance by the Company initiates the respective obligations of the parties as set forth therein and pursuant to this tariff, but the duration of the service is calculated from the Service Commencement Date. Should a customer use the Company's access service without an executed Service Order, the Company will then require the Customer to submit a Service Order.

# Serving Wire Center

The wire center from which the Customer designated premises would normally obtain dial tone from the Company.

#### Shared

A facility or equipment system or subsystem that can be used simultaneously by several Customers.

#### Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic

(C)

The term "Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic" denotes a customer's interexchange voice traffic exchanged with the Telephone Company in Time Division Multiplexing format over PSTN facilities, which originates and/or terminates in Internet Protocol (IP) format. "Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic" originates and/or terminates in IP format when it originates from and/or terminates to an end user customer of a service that requires IP-compatible customer premises equipment. (C)

#### User

A Customer or any other person authorized by the Customer to use service provided under this Tariff.

#### Wire Center

A building in which one or more central offices, used for the provision of Exchange Services, are located.

Section 2 Original Page 1

#### **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.1 Undertaking of the Company

# 2.1.1 <u>Scope</u>

The Company undertakes to furnish access services in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Tariff.

# 2.1.2 Shortage of Facilities

All service is subject to the availability of suitable facilities. The Company reserves the right to limit the length of communications or to discontinue furnishing services when necessary because of the lack of transmission medium capacity or because of any causes beyond its control.

# 2.1.3 <u>Terms and Conditions</u>

- A) Service is provided on the basis of a minimum period of at least one month, 24-hours per day. For the purpose of computing charges in this tariff, a month is considered to have 30 days.
- B) Customers may be required to submit written service orders which shall contain or reference a specific description of the service ordered, the rates to be charged, the duration of the services, and the terms and conditions in this tariff. Customers will also be required to execute any other documents as may be reasonably requested by the Company.
- C) In any action between the parties to enforce any provision of this tariff, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its legal fees and court costs from the non-prevailing party in addition to other relief a court may award.
- D) This Tariff shall be interpreted and governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania without regard for its choice of laws provision.

Section 2 Original Page 2

#### **REGULATIONS**

# 2.1 Undertaking of the Company (cont'd.)

# 2.1.4 <u>Limitations on Liability</u>

- A) Except as otherwise stated in this section, the liability of the Company for damages arising out of either: (1) the furnishing of its services, including but not limited to mistakes, omissions, interruptions, delays, or errors, or other defects, representatives, or use of these services or (2) the failure to furnish its service, whether caused by acts or omission, shall be limited to the extension of allowances to the Customer for interruptions in service as set forth in Section 2.7.
- B) Except for the extension of allowances to the Customer for interruptions in service as set forth in Section 2.7, the Company shall not be liable to a Customer or third party for any direct, indirect, special, incidental, reliance, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages, including, but not limited to, loss of revenue or profits, for any reason whatsoever, including, but not limited to, any act or omission, failure to perform, delay, interruption, failure to provide any service or any failure in or breakdown of facilities associated with the service.
- C) The liability of the Company for errors in billing that result in overpayment by the Customer shall be limited to a credit equal to the dollar amount erroneously billed or, in the event that payment has been made and service has been discontinued, to a refund of the amount erroneously billed.
- D) The Company shall not be liable for any claims for loss or damages involving:

- 2.1 Undertaking of the Company (cont'd.)
  - 2.1.4 <u>Limitations on Liability (cont'd.)</u>
    - D) (cont'd.)
      - 1) Any act or omission of: (a) the Customer, (b) any other entity furnishing service, equipment or facilities for use in conjunction with services or facilities provided by the Company; or (c) common carriers;
      - 2) Any delay or failure of performance or equipment due to causes beyond the Company's control, including but not limited to, acts of God, fires, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes, or other catastrophes; national emergencies, insurrections, riots, wars or other civil commotions; strikes, lockouts, work stoppages or other labor difficulties; criminal actions taken against the Company; unavailability, failure or malfunction of equipment or facilities provided by the Customer or third parties; and any law, order, regulation or other action of any governing authority or agency thereof;
      - 3) Any unlawful or unauthorized use of the Company's facilities and services:
      - 4) Libel, slander, invasion of privacy or infringement of patents, trade secrets, or copyrights arising from or in connection with the transmission of communications by means of Company-provided facilities or services; or by means of the combination of Company-provided facilities or services with Customer-provided facilities or services;

Section 2 Original Page 4

#### **REGULATIONS**

- 2.1 Undertaking of the Company (cont'd.)
  - 2.1.4 <u>Limitations on Liability (cont'd.)</u>
    - D) (cont'd.)
      - 5) Breach in the privacy or security of communications transmitted over the Company's facilities;
      - Changes in any of the facilities, operations or procedures of the Company that render any equipment, facilities or services provided by the Customer obsolete, or require modification or alteration of such equipment, facilities or services, or otherwise affect their use or performance, except where reasonable notice is required by the Company and is not provided to the Customer, in which event the Company's liability is limited as set forth in section 2.1.4, preceding.
      - 7) Defacement of or damage to Customer premises resulting from the furnishing of services or equipment on such premises or the installation or removal thereof.
      - 8) Injury to property or injury or death to persons, including claims for payments made under Workers' Compensation law or under any plan for employee disability or death benefits, arising out of, or caused by, any act or omission of the Customer, or the construction, installation, maintenance, presence, use or removal of the Customer's facilities or equipment connected, or to be connected to the Company's facilities;

Section 2 Original Page 5

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.1 <u>Undertaking of the Company</u> (cont'd.)
  - <u>Limitations on Liability</u> (cont'd.) 2.1.4
    - D) (cont'd.)
      - 9) Any intentional, wrongful act of a Company employee when such act is not within the scope of the employee's responsibilities for the Company and/or is not authorized by the Company;
      - 10) Any representations made by Company employees that do not comport, or that are inconsistent, with the provisions of this Tariff.
      - 11) Any noncompletion of calls due to network busy conditions;
      - 12) Any calls not actually attempted to be completed during any period that service is unavailable.

Section 2 Original Page 6

#### **REGULATIONS**

- 2.1 Undertaking of the Company (cont'd.)
  - 2.1.4 <u>Limitations on Liability</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) The Company shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless by the Customer or end user from and against any and all claims, loss, demands, suits, expense, or other action or any liability whatsoever, including attorney fees, whether suffered, made, instituted, or asserted by the Customer or by any other party, for any personal injury to or death of any person or persons, and for any loss, damage or destruction of any property, including environmental contamination, whether owned by the Customer or by any other party, caused or claimed to have been caused directly or indirectly by the installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance, presence, condition, location, use or removal of any Company or Customer equipment or facilities or service provided by the Company.
    - F) The Company does not guarantee nor make any warranty with respect to installations provided by it for use in an explosive atmosphere. The Company shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless by the Customer from and against any and all claims, loss, demands, suits, or other action, or any liability whatsoever, including attorney fees, whether suffered, made, instituted or asserted by the Customer or by any other party, for any personal injury to or death of any person or persons, and for any loss, damage or destruction of any property, including environmental contamination, whether owned by the Customer or by any other party, caused or claimed to have been caused directly or indirectly by the installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance, presence, condition, location, use or removal of any equipment or facilities or the service.

Section 2 Original Page 7

#### **REGULATIONS**

- 2.1 Undertaking of the Company (cont'd.)
  - 2.1.4 <u>Limitations on Liability (cont'd.)</u>
    - G) The Company assumes no responsibility for the availability or performance of any cable or satellite systems or related facilities under the control of other entities, or for other facilities provided by other entities used for service to the Customer, even if the Company has acted as the Customer's agent in arranging for such facilities or services. Such facilities are provided subject to such degree of protection or nonpreemptibility as may be provided by the other entities.
    - H) Except as otherwise stated in this Tariff, any claim of whatever nature against the Company shall be deemed conclusively to have been waived unless presented in writing to the Company within sixty (60) days after the date of the occurrence that gave rise to the claim.
    - I) THE COMPANY MAKES NO WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED EITHER IN FACT OR BY OPERATION OF LAW, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE, EXCEPT THOSE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN.

Section 2 Original Page 8

#### **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.1 Undertaking of the Company (cont'd.)

# 2.1.5 Provision of Equipment and Facilities

- A) Except as otherwise indicated, customer-provided station equipment at the Customer's premises for use in conjunction with this service shall be so constructed, maintained and operated as to work satisfactorily with the facilities of the Company.
- B) The company shall not be responsible for the installation, operation or maintenance of any Customer-provided communications equipment.

  Where such equipment is connected to service furnished pursuant to this tariff, the responsibility of the Company shall be limited to the furnishing of services under this tariff and to the maintenance and operation of such services in the proper manner. Subject to this responsibility, the Company shall not be responsible for:
  - 1) the through transmission of signals generated by Customerprovided equipment or for the quality of, or defects in, such transmission; or
  - 2) the reception of signals by Customer-provided equipment; or
  - 3) network control signaling where such signaling is performed by Customer-provided network control signaling equipment.

#### 2.1.6 Ownership of Facilities

Title to all facilities provided in accordance with this tariff remains in the Company, its agents, contractors or suppliers.

Section 2 Original Page 9

#### **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.2 Prohibited Uses

- A) The services the Company offers shall not be used for any unlawful purpose or for any use for which the Customer has not obtained all required governmental approvals, authorization, licenses, consents and permits.
- B) The Company may require applicants for service who intend to use the Company's offering for resale and/or for shared use to file a letter with the Company confirming that their use of the Company's offerings complies with relevant laws and regulations, policies, orders, and decisions.
- C) The Company may require a Customer to immediately shut down its transmission if such transmission is causing interference to others.
- D) A customer, joint user, or authorized user may not assign, or transfer in any manner, the service or any rights associated with the service without the written consent of the Company. The Company will permit a Customer to transfer its existing service to another entity if the existing Customer has paid all charges owed to the Company for regulated access services. Such a transfer will be treated as a disconnection of existing service and installation of new service, and non-recurring installation charges as stated in this Tariff will apply.

Section 2 Original Page 10

#### **REGULATIONS**

# 2.3 Obligations of the Customer

#### 2.3.1 Customer Premises Provisions

- A) The Customer shall provide the personnel, power and space required to operate all facilities and associated equipment installed on the premises of the Customer.
- B) The Customer shall be responsible for providing Company personnel access to premises of the Customer at any reasonable hour for the purpose of testing the facilities or equipment of the Company.

#### 2.3.2 Liability of the Customer

- A) The Customer will be liable for damages to the facilities of the Company and for all incidental and consequential damages caused by the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of the Customer, its officers, employees, agents, invitees, or contractors where such acts or omissions are not the direct result of the Company's negligence or intentional misconduct.
- B) To the extent caused by any negligent or intentional act of the Customer as described in (A), preceding, the Customer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company from and against all claims, actions, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, for (1) any loss, destruction or damage to property of any third party, (2) the death of or injury to persons, including, but not limited to, employees or invitees of either party, and (3) any liability incurred by the Company to any third party pursuant to this or any other tariff of the Company, or otherwise, for any interruption of, interference to, or other defect in any service provided by the Company to such third party.

Section 2 Original Page 11

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.3 Obligations of the Customer (cont'd.)
  - 2.3.2 <u>Liability of the Customer (cont'd.)</u>
    - C) The Customer shall not assert any claim against any other Customer or user of the Company's services for damages resulting in whole or in part from or arising in connection with the furnishing of service under this Tariff including but not limited to mistakes, omissions, interruptions, delays, errors or other defects or misrepresentations, whether or not such other Customer or user contributed in any way to the occurrence of the damages, unless such damages were caused solely by the negligent or intentional act or omission of the other Customer or user and not by any act or omission of the Company. Nothing in this Tariff is intended either to limit or to expand Customer's right to assert any claims against third parties for damages of any nature other than those described in the preceding sentence.

# 2.3 Obligations of the Customer (cont'd.)

# 2.3.3 <u>Jurisdictional Report Requirements</u>

- A) For Feature Group B Switched Access Service(s) for both originating and terminating usage, a projected Percentage of Interstate Usage (PIU) must be provided by the Customer to the Company. When a Customer orders Feature Group B Switched Access Service, the Customer shall state, in its order, the projected PIU factor for each Feature Group B Switched Access Service group ordered. The formula for developing PIU is as follows in Section 2.3.3 (B) below.
- B) For Feature Group D Switched Access Service(s), the Company, where jurisdiction can be determined from call detail, will determine the PIU as follows:
  - 1) For originating access minutes, the PIU will be developed on a monthly basis, by end office trunk group, by dividing the measured interstate originating access minutes (the access minutes where the calling number is in one state and the called number is in another state) by the total originating access minutes.
  - 2) For terminating access minutes, the Customer has the option to provide the Company with a projected PIU factor. Customers who provide a PIU factor shall supply the Company with an interstate percentage of the Feature Group D terminating access minutes for each account to which the Customer may terminate traffic. Should the Customer not supply a terminating PIU factor, the data used by the Company to develop the PIU for originating access minutes will be used to develop the PIU for such terminating access minutes.

- 2.3 Obligations of the Customer (cont'd.)
  - 2.3.3 <u>Jurisdictional Report Requirements (cont'd.)</u>
    - B) (cont'd.)

When a Customer orders Feature Group D Switched Access Service, the Customer shall supply a projected PIU for each end office trunk group involved to be used in the event that originating call detail is insufficient to determine the jurisdiction of the usage. For purposes of developing the PIU, the Customer shall utilize the same considerations as those set forth in Section 2.3.3 (C) following.

- C) Where the call detail data is insufficient to develop jurisdiction, the Customer must provide the Company with a PIU using the following steps:
  - 1) For purposes of developing the PIU, the Customer shall consider every call that enters the Customer's network at a point within the same state as the state where the called station is located to be intrastate and every call that enters the Customer's network at a point in a state different from the state in which the called station is located to be interstate.
  - 2) The Company will designate the number obtained by subtracting the PIU from 100 (100 projected interstate percentage = intrastate percentage) as the projected intrastate percentage of use.
  - 3) A whole number percentage will be used by the Company to apportion the usage, monthly recurring, and/or nonrecurring charges between interstate and intrastate until a revised report is received.

- 2.3 Obligations of the Customer (cont'd.)
  - 2.3.3 <u>Jurisdictional Report Requirements</u> (cont'd.)
    - (D) The projected interstate percentage of use will be used to determine the charges as follows:

The number of access minutes for a trunk group will be multiplied by the projected interstate percentage of use to determine the interstate access minutes. (i.e., number of access minutes x projected interstate percentage of use = interstate access minutes). The number of interstate access minutes so determined will be subtracted from the total number of access minutes (i.e., number of access minutes - interstate access minutes = intrastate access minutes). The intrastate access minutes for the group will be billed as set forth in Section 5. following.

(E) Effective on the first of January, April, July and October of each year, the Customer may update the jurisdictional reports that require a projected interstate percentage. The Customer shall forward to the Company, to be received no later than 20 calendar days after the first of each such month, a revised report showing the interstate percentage of use for the past three months ending the last day of December, March, June and September, respectively, for each service arranged for interstate and intrastate use. Except as set forth in Section 2.3.3(A) preceding where jurisdiction can be determined from the recorded message detail, the revised report will serve as the basis for the next three months billing and will be effective on the bill date in the following month (i.e., February, May, August, and November) for that service. No prorating or back billing will be done based on the report. If the Customer does not supply the report, the Company will assume the percentage to be the same as that provided in the last quarterly report. For those cases in which a quarterly report has never been received from the Customer, the Company will assume the percentage to be the same as that provided in the order for service as set forth in Section 2.3.3(A) preceding.

Section 2 Original Page 15

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.3 <u>Obligations of the Customer</u> (cont'd.)
  - 2.3.3 <u>Jurisdictional Report Requirements</u> (cont'd.)
    - (F) The Customer reported projected interstate percentage of use as set forth in Section 2.3.3(A) preceding will be used for the apportionment of any monthly rates or nonrecurring charges associated with Feature Groups B or D Switched Access Service until the end of the quarter during which the service was activated. Thereafter, a projected interstate percentage for such apportionment will be developed quarterly by the Company based on the data used to develop the projected interstate percentage of use as set forth in Section 2.3.3(A) preceding. Where call detail is insufficient to make such a determination, the Customer will be requested to project an interstate percentage of use to be used by the Company for such apportionment.
    - (G) The Customer shall keep sufficient detail from which the percentage of interstate use can be ascertained and upon request of the Company make the records available for inspection. Such a request will be initiated by the Company no more than once per year. The Customer shall supply the data within 30 calendar days of the Company request.

Section 2 Original Page 15.1

#### REGULATIONS

# 2.3 <u>Obligations of the Customer</u> (Cont'd.)

# 2.3.13 Identification and Rating of VoIP-PSTN Traffic

#### (A) Scope

- (1) VoIP-PSTN traffic is defined as traffic exchanged over the public switched telephone network ("PSTN") facilities that originates and/or terminates in Internet protocol ("IP") format. This section governs the identification of toll VoIP-PSTN ("toll VoIP") traffic that in the absence of an interconnection agreement will be subject to interstate switched access rates in accordance with the Federal Communications Commission Report and Order in WC Docket Nos. 10-90, etc., FCC Release No. 11-161 (Nov. 18, 2011) ("FCC Order") as it may hereinafter be amended or clarified. Specifically, this section establishes the method of distinguishing toll VoIP traffic from the customer's total intrastate access traffic, so that toll VoIP traffic will be billed in accordance with the FCC Order.
- (2) This section will be applied to the billing of switched access charges to a customer that is a local exchange carrier only to the extent that the customer has also implemented billing of interstate access charges for VoIP-PSTN Traffic in accordance with the FCC Order.
- (B) Rating of toll VoIP-PSTN traffic
  The Telephone Company will bill toll VoIP-PSTN traffic which it
  identifies in accordance with this tariff section at rates equal to the
  Telephone Company's applicable tariffed interstate switched access rates.
- (C) Calculation and Application of Percent-VoIP-Usage Factor
  The Telephone Company will determine the number of toll VoIP traffic
  minutes of use ("MOU") to which it will apply its interstate rates under
  subsection (B), above, by applying an originating Percent VoIP Usage
  ("OPVU") factor to the total intrastate access MOU originated by a
  Telephone Company end user and delivered to the customer and by
  applying a terminating PVU ("TPVU") factor to the total intrastate access
  MOU terminated by a customer to the Telephone Company's end user.
  The OPVU and TPVU will be derived and applied as follows:

Section 2

# Original Page 15.2

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.3 Obligations of the Customer (Cont'd.)
  - 2.3.13 Identification and Rating of VoIP-PSTN Traffic (Cont'd)
    - (C) Calculation and Application of Percent-VoIP-Usage Factor (Cond't)
      - (1) The customer will calculate and furnish to the Telephone Company an OPVU factor, along with supporting documentation, representing the whole number percentage of the customer's total originating intrastate access MOU that the customer receives from the Telephone Company in the State that is originated by the Telephone Company in IP format.
      - (2) The customer will calculate and furnish to the Telephone Company a TPVU factor, along with supporting documentation, representing the whole number percentage of the customer's total terminating intrastate access MOU that the customer exchanges with the Telephone Company in the State that is sent to the Telephone Company and originated in IP format.
      - (3) The OPVU, TPVU and supporting documentation shall be based on information that is verifiable by the Telephone Company including but not limited to the number of the customer's retail VoIP subscriptions in the state (*e.g.*, as reported on FCC Form 477), traffic studies, actual call detail, or other relevant and verifiable information. The customer shall not modify its reported PIU factor to account for VoIP-PSTN traffic.
      - (4) After the Telephone Company verifies the OPVU and TPVU provided by the customer the Telephone Company will apply the OPVU and TPVU factors to the associated intrastate access MOU as indicated in Sections (D) and/or (E) below.

Section 2

Original Page 15.3

#### REGULATIONS

- 2.3 <u>Obligations of the Customer</u> (Cont'd.)
  - 2.3.13 Identification and Rating of VoIP-PSTN Traffic (Cont'd)
    - (C) Calculation and Application of Percent-VoIP-Usage Factor (Cond't)

In the event that the Telephone Company can not verify the customer's OPVU and/or TPVU, the Telephone Company will request additional information to support the OPVU and/or TPVU, during this time no changes will be made to the existing OPVU and /or TPVU. The customer shall supply the requested additional information within 15 days of the Telephone Company's request or no changes will be made to the existing OPVU and/or TPVU. If after review of the additional information, the customer and Telephone Company establish a revised and mutually agreed upon OPVU and/or TPVU factor, the Telephone Company will begin using the new factor with the next bill period.

If the dispute is unresolved the customer may request that verification audits be conducted by an independent auditor, at customer's sole expense. During the audit, the most recent undisputed OPVU and/or TPVU factor will be used by the Telephone Company.

# (D) Initial OPVU and TPVU Factor

In calculating the initial OPVU and TPVU factor(s), the Telephone Company will take the factor(s) provided by the customer into account retroactively to January 1, 2012, provided that the customer provides the factor(s) and supporting documentation, as specified in subsection (C) above to the Telephone Company no later than 15 days after the effective date of this tariff. If the customer does not furnish the Telephone Company with an OPVU and/or TPVU factor pursuant to the preceding subsection (C), the initial factor will be zero.

Section 2 Original Page 15.4

#### REGULATIONS

- 2.3 <u>Obligations of the Customer</u> (cont'd.)
  - 2.3.13 Identification and Rating of VoIP-PSTN Traffic (Cont'd)
    - (E) OPVU and TPVU Factor Updates

The customer may update the OPVU and/or TPVU factor(s) semi-annually using the method set forth in subsection (C), above. If the customer chooses to submit such updates, it shall forward to the Telephone Company, no later than 15 days after the first day of January and/or July of each year, a revised OPVU and/or TPVU factor and supporting documentation based on data for the prior three months, ending the last day of December and/or June, respectively. Once verified by the Telephone Company the revised OPVU and/or TPVU factor will apply prospectively and serve as the basis for billing until superseded by a new verified factor.

Section 2 Original Page 16

#### **REGULATIONS**

# 2.4 Customer Equipment and Channels

#### 2.4.1 Interconnection of Facilities

In order to protect the Company's facilities and personnel and the services furnished to other Customers by the Company from potentially harmful effects, the signals applied to the Company's service shall be such as not to cause damage to the facilities of the Company. Any special interface equipment necessary to achieve the compatibility between facilities of the Company and the channels or facilities of others shall be provided at the Customer's expense.

# 2.4.2 <u>Inspections</u>

- A) The Company may, upon notification to the Customer, at a reasonable time, make such tests and inspections as may be necessary to determine that the requirements regarding the equipment and interconnections are being complied with the installation, operation and maintenance of Customer-provided equipment and in the wiring of the connection of Customer channels to Company-owned facilities.
- B) If the protective requirements in connections with Customer-provided equipment are not being complied with, the Company may take such action as necessary to protect its facilities and personnel and will promptly notify the Customer by registered mail in writing of the need for protective action. In the event that the Customer fails to advise the Company within 10 days after such notice is received or within the time specified in the notice that corrective action has been taken, the Company may take whatever additional action is deemed necessary, including the suspension of service, to protect its facilities and personnel from harm. The Company will upon request 24 hours in advance provide Customer with a statement of technical parameters that the Customer's equipment must meet.

Section 2 Original Page 17

#### **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.5 Customer Deposits and Advance Payments

# 2.5.1 Advance Payments

To safeguard its interests, the Company may require a Customer to make an advance payment before services and facilities are furnished. The advance payment will not exceed an amount up to two months of estimated monthly usage charges. In addition, where special construction is involved, the advance payment may also include an amount equal to the estimated non-recurring charges for the special construction and recurring charges (if any) for a period to be set between the Company and the Customer. The advance payment will be credited to the Customer's initial bill. An advance payment may be required in addition to a deposit.

# 2.5.2 Deposits

- A) To safeguard its interests, the Company may require the Customer to make a deposit to be held as a guarantee for the payment of charges. A deposit does not relieve the Customer of the responsibility for the prompt payment of bills on presentation. The deposit will not exceed an amount equal to:
  - 1) two month's charges for a service or facility which has a minimum payment period of one month; or
  - 2) the charges that would apply for the minimum payment period for a service or facility which has a minimum payment period of more than one month; except that the deposit may include an additional amount in the event that a termination charge is applicable.

Section 2 Original Page 18

#### **REGULATIONS**

- 2.5 Customer Deposits and Advance Payments (cont'd.)
  - 2.5.2 <u>Deposits</u> (cont'd.)
    - B) A deposit may be required in addition to an advance payment.
    - C) When a service or facility is discontinued, the amount of a deposit, if any, will be applied to the Customer's account and any credit balance remaining will be refunded. Before the service or facility is discontinued, the Company may, at its option, return the deposit or credit it to the Customer's account. If the amount of the deposit is insufficient to cover the balance due to the Customer's account, the Company retains the right to collect any amounts owing after the deposit has been applied plus any costs related to the collection of any remaining balance.
    - D) Deposits held will accrue interest at a rate determined by the Company without deductions for any taxes on such deposits. Interest will not accrue on any deposit after the date on which reasonable effort has been made to return it to Customer.

Section 2 Original Page 19

#### **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.6 **Payment Arrangements**

#### Payment for Service 2.6.1

The Customer is responsible for the payment of all charges for facilities and services furnished by the Company to the Customer.

#### A) Taxes

The Customer is responsible for payment of any sales, use, gross receipts, excise, access or other local, state and federal taxes, charges or surcharges (however, designated) (excluding taxes on the Company's net income) imposed on or based upon the provision, sale or use of network services.

#### 2.6.2 Billing and Collection of Charges

The Customer is responsible for payment of all charges incurred by the Customer or other users for services and facilities furnished to the Customer by the Company.

- A) Non-recurring charges are due and payable within 30 days after the date of the invoice.
- B) The Company shall present invoices for Recurring Charges monthly to the Customer, in advance of the month in which service is provided, and Recurring Charges shall be due and payable within 30 days after the date of the invoice. When billing is based upon customer usage, usage charges will be billed monthly for the preceding billing period.
- C) When service does not begin on the first day of the month, or end on the last day of the month, the charge for the fraction of the month in which service was furnished will be calculated on a pro rate basis. For this purpose, every month is considered to have 30 days.

Section 2 Original Page 20

#### **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)
  - Billing and Collection of Charges (cont'd.) 2.6.2
    - D) Billing of the Customer by the Company will begin on the Service Commencement Date, which is the day on which the Company notifies the Customer that the service or facility is available for use, except that the Service Commencement Date may be postponed by mutual agreement of the parties, or if the service or facility does not conform to standards set forth in this tariff or the Service Order. Billing accrues through and includes the day that the service, circuit, arrangement or component is discontinued.
    - E) If any portion of the payment is received by the Company after the date due, or if any portion of the payment is received by the Company in funds which are not immediately available upon presentment, then a late payment penalty shall be due to the Company. The late payment penalty shall be the portion of the payment not received by the date due, multiplied by a late factor. The late factor shall be the lesser of:
      - 1) a rate of 1.5 percent per month; or
      - 2) the highest interest rate which may be applied under state law for commercial transactions.
    - F) The Customer will be assessed a charge of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) for each check submitted by the Customer to the Company which a financial institution refuses to honor.

Section 2 Original Page 21

#### **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)

# 2.6.3 <u>Billing Disputes</u>

# A) General

All bills are presumed accurate, and shall be binding on the Customer unless notice of the disputed charge(s) is received by the Company within 90 days (commencing 5 days after such bills have been mailed or otherwise rendered per the Company's normal course of business). For the purposes of this section, "notice" is defined as written notice to the Company, containing sufficient documentation to investigate the dispute, including the account number under which the bill has been rendered, the date of the bill, and the specific items on the bill being disputed.

# B) <u>Late Payment Charge</u>

- 1) The undisputed portions of the bill must be paid by the payment due date to avoid assessment of a late payment charge on the undisputed amount under Section 2.6.2 (E), preceding.
- 2) In the event that a billing dispute is resolved by the Company in favor of the Customer, any disputed amount withheld pending resolution of the billing dispute shall not be subject to the late payment charge.
- 3) In the event that a billing dispute is resolved in favor of the Company, the Customer shall pay the late payment charge.

Section 2 Original Page 22

#### **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)
  - 2.6.3 <u>Billing Disputes</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) Adjustments or Refunds to the Customer
      - 1) In the event that the Company resolves the billing dispute in favor of a Customer who has withheld payment of the disputed amount pending resolution of the disputed bill, the Company will credit the Customer's account for the disputed amount in the billing period following the resolution of the dispute.
      - 2) In the event that the Company resolves the billing dispute in favor of a Customer who has paid the total amount of the disputed bill, the Company will credit the Customer's account for any overpayment by the Customer in the billing period following the resolution of the dispute.
      - 3) In the event that the Company resolves the billing dispute in favor of a Customer who has paid the total amount of the disputed bill but canceled the service, the Company will issue a refund of any overpayment by the Customer.
      - 4) All adjustments or refunds provided by the Company to the Customer at the Customer's request, or provided by the Company to the Customer by way of compromise of a billing dispute, and which are accepted by the Customer, are final and constitute full satisfaction, settlement, and/or compromise of all of the Customer's claims for the billing period for which the adjustment or refund was issued.

Section 2 Original Page 23

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 <u>Payment Arrangements</u> (cont'd.)
  - 2.6.3 <u>Billing Disputes (cont'd.)</u>
    - D) <u>Unresolved Billing Disputes</u>

In the case of a billing dispute between the Customer and the Company for service furnished to the Customer, which cannot be settled to the mutual satisfaction of the Customer and the Company, the Customer has the right to take the following course of action:

- 1) First, the Customer may request and the Company will provide an in-depth review of the disputed amount.
- 2) Second, if after investigation and review by the Company, a disagreement remains as to the disputed amount, the Customer may file an appropriate complaint with:

PA Public Utility Commission P. O. Box 3265 Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

Section 2 Original Page 24

## **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)

# 2.6.4 Discontinuance of Service for Cause

- A) Upon nonpayment of any amounts owing to the Company, the Company may, by giving 5 days prior written notice to the Customer, discontinue or suspend service without incurring any liability.
- B) Upon violation of any of the other material terms or conditions for furnishing service the Company may, by giving 24 hours prior notice in writing to the Customer, discontinue or suspend service without incurring any liability if such violation continues during that period.
- C) Upon condemnation of any material portion of the facilities used by the Company to provide service to a Customer or if a casualty renders all or any material portion of such facilities inoperable beyond feasible repair, the Company, by notice to the Customer, may discontinue or suspend service without incurring any liability.
- D) Upon the Customer's insolvency, assignment for the benefit of creditors, filing for bankruptcy or reorganization, or failing to discharge an involuntary petition within the time permitted by law, the Company may immediately discontinue or suspend service without incurring any liability.
- E) Upon any governmental prohibition or required alteration of the services to be provided or any violation of an applicable law or regulation, the Company may immediately discontinue service without incurring any liability.
- F) In the event of fraudulent use of the Company's network, the Company may without notice suspend or discontinue service. The Customer will be liable for all related costs. The Customer will also be responsible for payment of any reconnection charges.

## **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)
  - 2.6.5 Ordering, Rating and Billing of Access Services Where More Than One Exchange Telephone Company is Involved

A Customer may order access service to an access tandem. When ordered to the access tandem, and the access tandem and the end office are not in the same Telephone Company operating territory, meet point billing will apply. All recurring and nonrecurring charges for services provided by each Exchange Telephone Company are billed under each company's applicable rates as set forth in Section 2.6.5 (A) following.

The Company accepts and adheres to the Ordering and Billing Forum guidelines, Multiple Exchange Carrier Access Billing (MECAB) and Multiple Exchange Carrier Ordering and Design (MECOD).

The Company will handle ordering, rating and billing of Access Services under this tariff where more than one Exchange Telephone Company is involved in the provision of Access Service as follows.

A) For Feature Group B and/or D Switched Access Service, when the first point of switching is not in the same Exchange Telephone Company's territory as the Customer's premise, the Customer must supply a copy of the order to the Exchange Telephone Company in whose territory the Customer's premise is located and any other Exchange Telephone Company(s) involved in providing the service.

Each Exchange Telephone Company will provide the portion of Access Transport to an interconnection point (IP) with another Exchange Telephone Company, and will bill the charges in accordance with its Access Service tariff. The rate for the Transport element will be determined as set forth in (B) following. All other appropriate charges in each Exchange Telephone Company tariff are applicable.

Section 2 Original Page 26

## **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)
  - 2.6.5 Ordering, Rating and Billing of Access Services Where More Than One Exchange Telephone Company is Involved (cont'd.)
    - B) The charge for the Local Transport rate element for services provided as set forth in Section 2.6.5 (A) preceding are determined as follows:
      - 1) Determine the appropriate Access Transport mileage by computing the airline mileage between the two ends of the Transport service, as defined in 3.1.2(B) following. Determine the airline mileage for the Transport charge using the V&H method as set forth in Section 2.10.2 following.
      - 2) For Feature Groups B or D Switched Access Service, the Local Transport charge is determined by using the steps set forth in (a) and (b) following for the total Local Transport-Common Switched Transport charges.
        - (a) Determine:

The Local Transport mileage band for the mileage measured.

Section 2 Original Page 27

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)
  - Ordering, Rating and Billing of Access Services Where More Than One 2.6.5 Exchange Telephone Company is Involved (cont'd.)
    - B) (cont'd.)
      - 2) (cont'd.)
        - (b) Multiply:

The number of access minutes

by

the Company's appropriate Local Transport mileage rate determined in (a) preceding

the Company's billing percentage factor. The resulting amount is the Company's total Local Transport charge.

Section 2 Original Page 28

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)
  - 2.6.5 Ordering, Rating and Billing of Access Services Where More Than One Exchange Telephone Company is Involved (cont'd.)
    - C) The interconnection points will be determined by the Exchange Telephone Companies involved. The billing percentage (BP) factor for the Company for the service between the involved offices will be listed in NATIONAL EXCHANGE CARRIER ASSOCIATION, INC. TARIFF F.C.C. NO. 4.
    - D) Should any changes be made to the meet point billing arrangements as set forth in Section 2.6.5 (A) preceding, the Company will give affected customers 30 days' notice.

Section 2 Original Page 29

## **REGULATIONS**

#### 2.6 Payment Arrangements (cont'd.)

#### 2.6.6 Changes in Service Requested

If the Customer makes or requests material changes in circuit engineering, equipment specifications, service parameters, premises locations, or otherwise materially modifies any provision of the application for service, the Customer's installation fees shall be adjusted according to the terms and conditions set forth in 3.1.1.C following, Access Order Modifications.

## 2.6.7 <u>Customer Overpayment</u>

The Company will pay interest on a Customer overpayment. Customer overpayment shall mean a payment to the Company in excess of the correct charges for service when caused by erroneous billing by the Company. The rate of interest shall be the unadjusted interest rate paid on Customer deposits or the late payment penalty rate, whichever is greater. Interest shall be paid from the date when the Customer overpayment was made, adjusted for any changes in the deposit interest rate or late payment penalty rate, and compounded monthly, until the date when the overpayment is refunded. No interest shall be paid on Customer overpayments that are refunded within thirty (30) days after such overpayment is received by the Company.

## 2.6.8 Notice to Company for Cancellation of Service

Customers desiring to terminate service shall provide the Company thirty (30) days written notice of desire to terminate service.

Section 2 Original Page 30

## **REGULATIONS**

## 2.7 Allowances for Interruptions in Service

#### 2.7.1 General

- A) A credit allowance will be given when service is interrupted, except as specified in Section 2.7.2 following. A service is interrupted when it becomes inoperative to the Customer, e.g., the Customer is unable to transmit or receive, because of a failure of a component furnished by the Company under this Tariff.
- B) An interruption period begins when the Customer reports a service, facility or circuit to be inoperative and, if necessary, releases it for testing and repair. An interruption period ends when the service, facility or circuit is operative.
- C) If the Customer reports a service, facility or circuit to be interrupted but declines to release it for testing and repair, the service, facility or circuit is considered to be impaired but not interrupted. No credit allowances will be made for a service, facility or circuit considered by the Company to be impaired.

Section 2 Original Page 31

# **REGULATIONS**

## 2.7 Allowances for Interruptions in Services (cont'd.)

#### 2.7.2 Limitations on Allowances

No credit allowance will be made for any interruption in service:

- A) Due to the negligence of or noncompliance with the provisions of this Tariff by any person or entity other than the Company, including but not limited to the Customer or other common carriers connected to the service of the Company;
- B) Due to the failure of power, equipment, systems, connections or services not provided by the Company;
- C) Due to circumstances or causes beyond the control of the Company;
- D) During any period in which the Company is not given full and free access to its facilities and equipment for the purposes of investigating and correcting interruptions;
- E) During any period in which the Customer continues to use the service on an impaired basis;
- F) During any period when the Customer has released service to the Company for maintenance purposes or for implementation of a Customer order for a change in service arrangements;
- G) That occurs or continues due to the Customer's failure to authorize replacement of any element of special construction; and
- H) That was not reported to the Company within thirty (30) days of the date that service was affected.

Section 2 Original Page 32

## **REGULATIONS**

## 2.7 Allowances for Interruptions in Service (cont'd.)

#### 2.7.3 Use of Another Means of Communications

If the Customer elects to use another means of communication during the period of interruption, the Customer must pay the charges for the alternative service used.

# 2.7.4 Application of Credits for Interruptions in Service

- A) Credits for interruptions in service that is provided and billed on a flat rate basis for a minimum period of at least one month, beginning on the date that billing becomes effective, shall in no event exceed an amount equivalent to the proportionate charge to the Customer for the period of service during which the event that gave rise to the claim for a credit occurred. A credit allowance is applied on a pro rate basis against the rates specified hereunder and is dependent upon the length of the interruption. Only those facilities on the interrupted portion of the circuit will receive a credit.
- B) For calculating credit allowances, every month is considered to have thirty (30) days.
- C) A credit allowance will be given for interruptions in service of 15 minutes or more. Two or more interruptions of 15 minutes or more during any one 24-hour period shall be considered as one interruption.

Section 2 Original Page 33

# **REGULATIONS**

- 2.7 <u>Allowances for Interruptions in Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 2.7.4 <u>Application of Credits for Interruptions in Service (cont'd.)</u>
    - D) <u>Interruptions of 24 Hours or Less</u>

Length of Interruption	Interruption Period To Be Credited
Less than 15 minutes	None
15 minutes up to but not includin 3 hours	g 1/10 Day
3 hours up to but not including 6 hours	1/5 Day
6 hours up to but not including 9 hours	2/5 Day
9 hours up to but not including 12 hours	3/5 Day
12 hours up to but not including 15 hours	4/5 Day
15 hours up to but not including 24 hours	One Day

## E) Continuous Interruption Over 24 Hours and Less Than 72 Hours

Interruptions over 24 hours and less than 72 hours will be credited 1/5 day for each three-hour period or fraction thereof that occurs following the expiration of the initial 24-hour period. No more than one full day's credit will be allowed for any period of 24 hours.

Section 2 Original Page 34

## **REGULATIONS**

- 2.7 Allowances for Interruptions in Service (cont'd.)
  - 2.7.4 <u>Application of Credits for Interruptions in Service (cont'd.)</u>
    - F) <u>Interruptions Over 72 Hours</u>
      Interruptions over 72 hours will be credited 2 days for each full 24-hour period that occurs following the expiration of the initial 72-hour period.

      No more than 30 days credit will be allowed for any one month period.

## 2.7.5 <u>Cancellation For Service Interruption</u>

Cancellation or termination for service interruption is permitted only if any circuit experiences a single continuous outage of 8 hours or more or cumulative service credits equaling 16 hours in a continuous 12-month period. The right to cancel service under this provision applies only to the single circuit which has been subject to the outage or cumulative service credits.

## 2.8 <u>Cancellation of Service/Termination Liability</u>

If a Customer cancels a Service Order or terminates services before the completion of the term for any reason whatsoever other than a service interruption (as defined in Section 2.7.1), the Customer agrees to pay to the Company termination liability charges, which are defined below. These charges shall become due and owing as of the effective date of the cancellation or termination and be payable within the period set forth in Section 2.6.2.

When an application for a specially designed and engineered service is canceled or changed, in whole or in part, by the applicant prior to the establishment of service, the applicant is required to pay the Telephone Company, upon request, the aggregate of the costs and expenses incurred by the Telephone Company, for any work performed upon the application prior to the cancellation or change of the service.

Section 2 Original Page 35

## **REGULATIONS**

## 2.8 Cancellation of Service/Termination Liability (cont'd.)

# 2.8.1 <u>Termination Liability</u>

The payment to the Telephone Company required of the applicant shall not exceed the aggregate of the non-recurring service connection and minimum contract period charges, including, but not limited to, construction and termination charges, which would have applied if the service and facilities had been established prior to such cancellation, change, or change in location.

Applicable cancellation or change charges are determined on an individual case basis taking into consideration the following:

- The proportion of the provisioning functions completed by the Telephone Company at the time the request for cancellation or change is received.
- The corresponding proportion of the non-recurring installation charges or connection charges as specified in the appropriate Section of the Tariff and in other Tariffs of the Telephone Company.

#### 2.9 Privacy Rules

Automatic Number Identification (ANI) derived information may be used only for billing, routing, screening, ensuring network performance, completing calls or performing services directly related to the telephone caller's original call or transaction. Therefore, should the business that receives ANI information have an established customer relationship with the caller, the business may offer products or services to the caller that are directly related to the products or services previously purchased by the caller. The business that receives ANI information may not establish marketing lists or conduct ongoing market calls for unrelated products or services or sell the information derived from ANI (caller's name, address, telephone billing number, purchasing habits, etc.) to third parties unless it gets the prior written consent of the caller.

Section 2 Original Page 36

## **REGULATIONS**

## 2.10 Application of Rates

The regulations set forth in this section govern the application of rates for services contained in other sections of this tariff.

#### 2.10.1 Charges Based on Duration of Use

Customer traffic to end offices will be measured (i.e., recorded or assumed) by the Company at end office switches. Originating and terminating calls will be measured (i.e., recorded or assumed) by the Company to determine the basis for computing chargeable access minutes. In the event the Customer message detail is not available because the Company lost or damaged tapes or experienced recording system outages, the Company will estimate the volume of lost Customer access minutes of use based on previously known values.

For originating calls over Feature Group B or D, usage measurement begins when the originating Feature Group B or D switch receives the first wink supervisory signal forwarded from the Customer's point of termination.

The measurement of originating call usage ends when the originating Feature Group B or D switch receives disconnect supervision from either the originating end user's end office, indicating the originating end user has disconnected, or the Customer's point of termination, whichever is recognized first by the switch.

For terminating calls over Feature Group B or D, the measurement of access minutes begins when the terminating Feature Group B or D switch receives answer supervision from the terminating end user's end office, indicating the terminating end user has answered.

The measurement of terminating call usage over Feature Group B or D ends when the terminating Feature Group B or D switch receives disconnect supervision from either the terminating end user's end office, indicating the terminating end user has disconnected, or the Customer's point of termination, whichever is recognized first by the switch.

Section 2 Original Page 37

## **REGULATIONS**

# 2.10 <u>Application of Rates</u> (cont'd.)

# 2.10.1 <u>Charges Based on Duration of Use</u> (cont'd.)

Access minutes or fractions thereof are accumulated over the billing period for each end office and are then rounded up to the nearest access minute for each end office.

# 2.10.2 <u>Rates Based Upon Distance</u>

Where the charges for service are specified based upon distance, the following rules apply:

A) Distance between two points is measured as airline distance between the wire centers of the originating and terminating telephone lines. The wire center is a set of geographic coordinates, as referenced in NATIONAL EXCHANGE CARRIER ASSOCIATION, INC. TARIFF FCC No. 4, associated with each NPA-NXX combination (where NPA is the area code and NXX is the first three digits of a seven-digit telephone number).

Section 2 Original Page 38

## **REGULATIONS**

- 2.10 Application of Rates (cont'd.)
  - 2.10.2 Rates Based Upon Distance (cont'd.)
    - B) The airline distance between any two wire centers is determined as follows:
      - 1) Obtain the "V" and "H" coordinates for each wire center from the above-referenced NECA tariff.
      - 2) Compute the difference between the "V" coordinates of the two wire centers; and the difference between the two "H" coordinates.
      - 3) Square each difference obtained in step (2) above.
      - 4) Add the square of the "V" difference and the square of the "H" difference obtained in step (3).
      - 5) Divide the sum of the squares by 10. Round to the next higher whole number if any fraction is obtained.
      - 6) Obtain the square root of the whole number result obtained above. Round to the next higher whole number if any fraction is obtained. This is the airline mileage.
      - 7) Formula =

 $\sqrt{\frac{(V1 - V2)^2 + (H1 - H2)^2}{10}}$ 

Section 2 Original Page 39

## **REGULATIONS**

# 2.10 <u>Application of Rates</u> (cont'd.)

## 2.10.3 Mileage

The mileage to be used to determine the Local Transport monthly rate is calculated on the airline distance between the end office switch where the call carried by Local Transport originates or terminates and the Customer's serving wire center. The V&H coordinates method is used to determine mileage. This method is set forth in Section 2.10.2.

The Local Transport mileage rates are shown in Section 5.1.3 in terms of mileage bands. To determine the rate to be billed, first compute the mileage. Should the calculation result in a fraction of a mile, always round up to the next whole mile when determining the mileage. Then find the mile band for the mileage measured. The amount to be billed shall be the banded Local Transport rate multiplied by the number of access minutes multiplied by the Company's billing percentage factor.

Section 3 Original Page 1

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.1 Switched Access Service

Switched Access Service, which is available to customers for their use in furnishing their services to end users, provides a two-point communications path between a customer's premise and an end user's premise. It provides for the use of common terminating, switching and trunking facilities. Switched Access Service provides for the ability to originate calls from an end user's premise to a customer's premise, and to terminate calls from a customer's premise to an end user's premise in the LATA where it is provided. Switched Access Service must be ordered separately for each LATA in which the Customer desires to originate or terminate calls.

Switched Access Service is provided in two service categories of standard and optional features called Feature Groups. The Company provides Feature Group B and D originating and terminating switches access. The service categories are differentiated by their technical characteristics and the manner in which an end user accesses them when originating calls.

FGB Access, which is available to all customers, provides trunk side access to Company end office switches with an associated uniform 950-XXXX access code for the Customer's use in originating and terminating communications.

FGD Access, which is available to all Customers, provides trunk side access to Company end office switches with an associated uniform 101XXXX access code for the Customer's use in originating and terminating communications.

Section 3 Original Page 2

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTION

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order
    - A) Ordering Access Service Types

An Access Service Order is used by the Company to provide a Customer Access Service. When placing an order for Access Service, the Customer shall provide, at a minimum, the following information:

1) For Feature Group B Switched Access Service, the Customer shall specify the number of trunks and the end office when direct routing to the end office is desired and the Local Transport and Local Switching options desired. When ordering FGB trunks to an end office, the Customer must also provide the Company an estimate of the amount of traffic to be generated to and/or from each end office subtending an access tandem operated by another Exchange Telephone Company to assist the Company in the effort to project further facility requirements.

In addition, the Customer shall also specify for terminating only access, whether the trunks are to be arranged in trunk group arrangements or provided as single trunks.

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - A) Ordering Access Service Types (cont'd.)
      - 2) For Feature Group D Switched Access Service, the Customer shall specify the number of busy hour minutes of capacity (BHMC) from the Customer's premise to the end office by Feature Group and by traffic type. This information is used to determine the number of transmission paths. The Customer shall also specify the Local Transport and Local Switching options. Customers may, at their option, order FGD by specifying the number of trunks and the end office when direct routing to the end office is desired and the Local Transport and Local Switching options desired. When ordering by trunk quantities rather than BHMC quantities to an end office, the Customer must also provide the Company an estimate of the amount of traffic it will generate to and/or from each end office subtending an access tandem operated from another Exchange Telephone Company to assist the Company in its own efforts to project further facility requirements.

In addition, for Feature Group D with the Out of Band Signaling/SS7 signaling option, the Customer shall specify the switching point codes and trunk circuit identification codes for trunks with the Out of Band Signaling/SS7 signaling option, and the STP point codes, signaling link codes and link type for each Common Channel Signaling Access (CCSA) connection ordered.

When a Customer orders FGD in trunks, the Customer is responsible to assure that sufficient access facilities have been ordered to handle its traffic.

Section 3 Original Page 4

# SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - A) Ordering Access Service Types (cont'd.)
      - 3) For Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Access Service, the Customer shall order the service in accordance with the preceding provisions set forth for Feature Group D. If the Customer desires any of the optional features available with Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Service, the Customer shall so specify on the order for service.

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - B) Access Order Service Date Intervals

Access Service is provided with one of the following Service Date Intervals:

- -Standard Interval
- -Negotiated Interval
- -Advance Order Interval
- 1) **Standard Interval**

A schedule of Standard Intervals applicable for Switched Access Services is as follows:

Standard Interval

1 to 4 Trunks	28 Days
5 Trunks or Greater	30 Days

#### 2) Negotiated Interval

Feature Groups B and D

The Company will negotiate a service date interval with the Customer when:

- There is no Standard Interval for the service, or; (a)
- The quantity of Access Services orders exceeds the (b) quantities specified in the Standard Intervals, or;
- The Customer requests a service date beyond the (c) applicable Standard Interval service date except as set forth in (C) following.

Section 3 Original Page 6

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - B) Access Order Service Date Intervals (cont'd.)
      - 2) <u>Negotiated Interval (cont'd.)</u>

The Company will offer a service date based on the type and quantity of Access Services the Customer has requested. The Negotiated Interval may not exceed by more than six months the Standard Interval service date, or, when there is no Standard Interval, the Company offered service date. All services for which rates are applied on an individual case basis are provided with a Negotiated Interval.

Common Channel Signaling Access (CCSA) links will be provided on a Negotiated Interval. New or existing FGD trunks ordered with the SS7 signaling option will be provided on a Negotiated Interval.

The addition and/or deletion of a Toll Free 800 Series Access Service six digit Customer identification NXX is provided with a Negotiated Interval. The addition of a Toll Free 800 Series Access Service ten digit Customer identification record to the Toll Free 800 Series Access Service data base or the deletion of a Toll Free 800 Series Access Service ten digit Customer identification record from the 800 Access Service data base is provided with a Negotiated Interval. The initial establishment of service where Customer is:

## Maximum Interval

- Not yet provided with any FGB or FGD service in the LATA

6 months

- Provided FGB or FGD service in the LATA

90 Days

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 <u>Access Service Order (cont'd.)</u>
    - B) Access Order Service Date Intervals (cont'd.)
      - 3) Advance Order Interval

When placing an Access Order, a Customer may request an Advance Order Interval for a service date of 12 to 24 months from the Application Date for the following services:

- A minimum of 24 voice grade equivalent Switched Access Service lines or trunks or 720 BHMCs

Orders for less than the minimum quantities will be accommodated under Standard or Negotiated Interval provisions.

Advance Order Interval Access Orders are subject to all ordering conditions of Standard and Negotiated Interval Access Orders except for the following:

## (a) Advance Payment

A nonrefundable Advance Payment will be calculated as follows:

The minimum monthly charge for the minimum period plus the applicable Nonrecurring Charges for the services ordered.

This Advance Payment is due 10 working days from the date the Company confirms acceptance of the order, or on the Application Date, whichever date is the later date. If the Advance Payment is not received by such payment date, the order will be canceled.

Section 3 Original Page 8

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - Access Service Order (cont'd.) 3.1.1
    - B) Access Order Service Date Intervals (cont'd.)
      - 3) Advance Order Interval (cont'd.)
        - (a) Advance Payment (cont'd.)

When the Access Services are connected on the service date, the Advance Payment will be applied, as a credit, to the Customer's billed service charges. When there has been a decrease in the number of services originally ordered, as set forth in (b) following, only the portion of the Advance Payment for services actually installed will be credited.

Cancellation or Partial Cancellation of an Advance (b) Order Interval Access Order

> When the Customer cancels an Access Order, the order will be withdrawn. The Advance Payment will not be credited or refunded.

> Any decrease in the number of ordered Access Services will be treated as a partial cancellation, and the portion of the Advance Payment for the services canceled will not be credited or refunded.

#### 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)

# 3.1.1 <u>Access Service Order (cont'd.)</u>

# C) <u>Access Order Modifications</u>

The Customer may request a modification of its Access Order at any time prior to notification by the Company that service is available for the Customer's use or prior to the service date, whichever is later.

Any increase in the number of Switched Access Service lines, trunks or busy hour minutes of capacity or CCSA signaling connections will be ordered as a new Access Order (for the increased amount only).

# 1) <u>Service Date Change Charge</u>

Access Order service dates for the installation of new services or rearrangements of existing services may be changed, but the new service date may not exceed the original service date by more than 30 calendar days. When, for any reason, the Customer indicates that service cannot be accepted for a period not to exceed 30 calendar days, and the Company accordingly delays the start of service, a Service Date Change Charge will apply. If the Customer requested service date is more than 30 calendar days after the original service date, the order will be canceled by the Company and reissued with the appropriate cancellation charges applied.

A Service Date Change Charge will apply, on a per order per occurrence basis, for each service date changed. The applicable charge is found in Section 5.1.1.

Section 3 Original Page 10

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 <u>Access Service Order (cont'd.)</u>
    - C) <u>Access Order Modifications (cont'd.)</u>
      - 2) <u>Partial Cancellation Charge</u>

Any decrease in the number of ordered Switched Access Service lines, trunks or busy hour minutes of capacity ordered with a Standard or Negotiated Interval Access Order will be treated as a partial cancellation and the charges as set forth in Section 3.1.1.3 following will apply. Partial cancellation charges do not apply to Advance Order Interval Access Orders.

# 3) <u>Design Change Charge</u>

The Customer may request a design change to the service ordered. A design change is any change to an Access Order which requires engineering review. Design changes do not include a change of Customer premise, end user premise, end office switch or Feature Group type except for changes to Feature Group D. Changes of this nature will require the issuance of a new order and the cancellation of the original order with appropriate cancellation charges applied.

The Design Change Charge will apply on a per order per occurrence basis, for each order requiring a design change. The applicable charge is found in Section 5.1.1.

If a change of service date is required, the Service Date Change Charge will also apply.

Section 3 Original Page 11

# SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 <u>Access Service Order (cont'd.)</u>
    - C) <u>Access Order Modifications</u> (cont'd.)
      - 4) <u>Expedited Order Charge</u>

When placing an Access Order for service(s) for which Standard Intervals exist, a Customer may request a service date that is prior to the Standard Interval service date. A Customer may also request an earlier service date on a pending Standard, Negotiated or Advance Order Interval Access Order. If the Company agrees to provide service on an expedited basis, an Expedited Order Charge found in Section 5.1.1 will apply.

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - D) <u>Cancellation of an Access Order</u>
      - 1) A Customer may cancel an Access Order for the installation of service at any time prior to notification by the Company that services are available for the Customer's use or prior to the service date, whichever is later. The cancellation date is the date the Company receives written or verbal notice from the Customer that the order is to be canceled. The verbal notice must be followed by written confirmation within 10 days. If a Customer or an end user is unable to accept Access Service within 30 calendar days after the original service date, the Customer has the choice of the following options:
        - The Access Order shall be canceled and charges set forth in (B) following will apply, or
        - Billing for the service will commence.

If no cancellation request is received within the specified 30 calendar days, billing for the service will commence. In any event, the cancellation date or the date billing is to commence, as applicable, shall be the 31st day beyond the original service date of the Access Order.

Section 3 Original Page 13

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - D) <u>Cancellation of an Access Order (cont'd.)</u>
      - 2) When a Customer cancels a Standard or Negotiated Interval Access Order for the installation of service, a Cancellation Charge will apply as follows:
        - (a) When the Customer cancels an Access Order, a charge equal to the estimated provisioning costs incurred at a particular date for the service ordered by the Company shall apply.
        - (b) If the Company misses a service date for a Standard or Negotiated Interval Access Order by more than 30 days, due to circumstances such as acts of God, governmental requirements, work stoppages and civil commotions, the Customer may cancel the Access Order without incurring cancellation charges.

## E) Minimum Period

- 1) The minimum period for which Access Service is provided and for which charges are applicable, is one month.
- 2) The following changes will be treated as a discontinuance of the existing service and an installation of a new service. All associated nonrecurring charges will apply for the new service.

The changes listed below are those which will be treated as a discontinuance and installation of service and for which a new minimum period will be established.

Section 3 Original Page 14

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 witched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Minimum Period</u> (cont'd.)
      - 2) <u>(cont'd.)</u>
        - (a) A move to a different building.
        - (b) A change in type of service.
        - (c) A change in Switched Access Service Interface Group.
        - (d) Change in Switched Access Service traffic type.
        - (e) A change in Out of Band Signaling connection.
        - (f) Change to an existing Feature Group D Service to include the provision of 64 kbps Clear Channel Capability.

When Access Service is disconnected prior to the expiration of the minimum period, charges are applicable for the balance of the minimum period.

The Minimum Period Charge for monthly billed services will be determined as follows:

For Switched Access Service, the charge for a month or fraction thereof is equal to the applicable minimum monthly charge for the capacity.

All applicable nonrecurring charges for the service will be billed in addition to the Minimum Period Charge.

#### 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)

# 3.1.1 Access Service Order (cont'd.)

# F) Nonrecurring Charges

Nonrecurring charges are one-time charges that apply for a specific work activity (i.e., installation or service rearrangements).

## 1) <u>Installation of Service</u>

Nonrecurring charges apply to each Switched Access Service installed. For Switched Services ordered on a per trunk basis, the charge is applied per trunk or out of band signaling connection. For Switched Services ordered on a busy hour minutes of capacity basis, the charge is also applied on a per trunk basis but the charge applies only when the capacity ordered requires the installation of an additional trunk(s). In addition, nonrecurring charges apply when an out of band signaling connection is installed for use with FGD.

#### 2) Service Rearrangements

All changes to existing services other than changes involving administrative activities only will be treated as a discontinuance of the existing service and an installation of a new service. The nonrecurring charge described in (1) preceding will apply for this work activity. Moves that change the physical location of the point of termination are described below.

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.1 <u>Access Service Order</u> (cont'd.)
    - F) Nonrecurring Charges (cont'd.)
      - 2) <u>Service Rearrangements (cont'd.)</u>
        - (a) Moves Within the Same Building

When the move is to a new location within the same building, the charge for the move will be an amount equal to one half of the nonrecurring charge for the capacity affected. There will be no change in the minimum period requirements.

# (b) <u>Moves to a Different Building</u>

Moves to a different building will be treated as a discontinuance and start of service and all associated nonrecurring charges will apply. New minimum period requirements will be established for the new service. The Customer will also remain responsible for satisfying all outstanding minimum period charges for the discontinued service.

## G) Access Order Charge

The Access Order Charge is applied to all customer requests for new Special Access and Switched Access Service. In addition, the Access Order Charge is applicable to customer requests for additions, changes or rearrangements to existing Special and Switched Access Service.

Section 3 Original Page 17

## **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

## 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)

## 3.1.2 Rate Categories

There are five rate categories which apply to Switched Access Service:

- Carrier Common Line
- Local Transport
- End Office
- Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Access Service
- Switched Transport

# A) <u>Carrier Common Line</u>

The Carrier Common Line rate category provides for the use of Company common lines by Customers for access to end users to furnish Customer intrastate communications. Carrier Common Line is provided where the Customer obtains Company provided Switched Access Service.

#### 1) Limitations

- (a) A telephone number is not provided with Carrier Common Line.
- (b) Detail billing is not provided for Carrier Common Line.
- (c) Directory listings are not included in the rates and charges for Carrier Common Line.
- (d) Intercept arrangements are not included in the rates and charges for Carrier Common Line.
- (e) All trunk side connections provided in the same combined access group will be limited to the same features and operating characteristics.

Section 3 Original Page 18

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Carrier Common Line (cont'd.)</u>
      - 2) <u>Undertaking of the Telephone Company</u>

Where the Customer is provided with Switched Access Service under this tariff, the Company will provide the use of Company common lines by a Customer for access to end users at rates and charges as set forth in Section 5.1.2 following.

- 3) <u>Obligations of the Customer</u>
  - (a) The Customer facilities at the premise of the ordering customer shall provide the necessary on-hook and off-hook supervision.
  - (b) All Switched Access Service provided to the Customer will be subject to Carrier Common Line charges, excluding the Common Channel Signaling Access exemption.
- 4) Out of Band Signaling Access Exemption

The Common Channel Signaling Access Signal Transfer Point (STP) Port Termination, as set forth in Section 5 following, is not subject to a Carrier Common Line charge.

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Carrier Common Line</u> (cont'd.)
      - 5) <u>Rate Regulations</u>
        - (a) The Carrier Common Line charges will be billed per access minute to each Switched Access Service Customer.
        - (b) When the Customer reports interstate and intrastate use of Switched Access Service, the Carrier Common Line charges will be billed only to intrastate interLATA and/or intraLATA Switched Access Service access minutes based on the data reported by the Customer set forth in Section 2.3.3 preceding.
    - B) Local Transport

The Local Transport rate category provides for transmission facilities between the Customer's premise and the Company's end office switch(es) where the Customer's traffic is switched to originate or terminate its communications. Charges for Local Transport service are computed in accordance with Section 2.6.5 preceding (Ordering, Rating, and Billing of Access Services Where More Than One Exchange Telephone Company is Involved). For purposes of determining Local Transport mileage, distance will be measured from the wire center that normally serves the Customer's premise to the end office switch(es).

Section 3 Original Page 20

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - B) <u>Local Transport</u> (cont'd.)

The following paragraphs describe the Local Transport rate elements.

# 2) <u>Interface Groups</u>

The Interface Group is provided for terminating the Local Transport at the Customer's premise. The Interface Group provides a specified premise Interface. Where transmission facilities permit, the individual transmission path between the Customer's premise and the first point of switching may, at the option of the Customer, be provided with optional features.

Interface Group 1 provides DS1 level digital transmission at the point of termination at the Customer's premise. The interface is capable of transmitting electrical signals at a nominal 1.544 Mbps, with the capability to channelize up to 24 voice frequency transmission paths.

Section 3 Original Page 21

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - B) <u>Local Transport (cont'd.)</u>
      - 3) Out of Band Signaling
        - a) This ordering option allows the Customer to exchange signaling for Feature Group D call set-up over a communications path which is separate from the message path. This option is provided with SS7 protocol and is only available with Feature Group D. This option requires the establishment of a signaling connection path between the Customer's SPOI and the Telephone Company's STP.
        - b) Out of band signaling is provided in both the originating and terminating direction on FGD services.
          - Each signaling connection is provisioned for two-way transmission of out of band signaling information.
        - c) Out of band signaling is subject to the rates and charges as specified in 5.1.3(A) following.
      - 4) <u>Transport Facility</u>

Local Transport Facility provides for that portion of the voice frequency transmission path between the end office switch and the Customer's premise.

Section 3 Original Page 22

# SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - C) End Office

The End Office rate category provides the local end office switching and end user termination functions necessary to complete the transmission of Switched Access communications to and from the end users served by the Company's end office. The End Office rate category consists of the Local Switching element.

The Local Switching rate element provides for the use of end office switching equipment. The Local Switching rate is set forth in Section 5.1.4.

# 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)

#### 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)

#### D) Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Access Service

Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Access Service is a service offering utilizing originating trunk side Switched Access Service. The service provides for the forwarding of end user dialed Toll Free 800 Series calls to a Company Service Switching Point which will initiate a query to the data base to perform the Customer identification and delivery function. The call is forwarded to the appropriate customer based on the dialed Toll Free 800 Series number.

# 1) <u>Customer Identification Charge</u>

The Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Access Service Customer Identification and Delivery Charge applies for the identification of the appropriate customer and the delivery of the dialed Toll Free 800 Series ten-digit number. The charge is assessed to the Customer on a per query basis and may include an area of service which may range from a single NPA/NXX to an area consisting of all LATAs and NPAs in the State of Pennsylvania. The Customer Identification Charge as set forth in Section 5.1.5 applies.

#### E) <u>Switched Transport</u>

The Switched Transport rate category provides the transmission facilities between the customer's premises and the end office switch(es) where the customer's traffic is switched to originate or terminate its communications. For purposes of determining Switched Transport mileage, distance will be measured from the wire center that normally serves the customer to the end office switch(es).

Supplement No. 7 to Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 Section 3 First Revised Page 24 Cancels Original Page 24

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Switched Transport</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Tandem-Switched Transport Rate Category</u>

Tandem-Switched Transport provides the transmission facilities from the SWC of the customer's premises to an end office utilizing tandem switching functions. Tandem-Switched Transport consists of circuits dedicated to the use of a single customer from the SWC of the customer's premises to the access tandem of another LEC and circuits used in common by multiple customers from the LEC's access tandem to the Telephone Company's end office. For Tandem-Switched Transport the Telephone Company shall determine the type of facilities from the SWC of the customer's premises to the end office (s) via the access tandem, unless the customer has ordered Direct-Trunked Transport to the tandem. The Telephone Company will base its determination on a busy-hour minutes-of-capacity or on a per trunk basis provided by the customer when ordering service.

The Tandem-Switched Transport rate category is comprised of a Tandem Transport fixed MOU rate, Tandem Transport per mile, per MOU rate, and a Tandem Switching MOU rate. The fixed rate provides the circuit equipment at the end of the interoffice transmission links. The per-mile rate provides the transmission facilities, including intermediate transmission circuit equipment between the end points of the interoffice circuit. For purposes of determining the per-mile rate, mileage shall be measured as airline mileage between the SWC of the customer's premises and the end office using the V&H coordinates method. The Tandem Switched Transport rate is the sum of the fixed rate, the per-mile rate, and the Tandem Switching MOU rate.

**(C)** 

Issued: June 1, 2017 Effective: July 1, 2017

Vice President Regulatory 4001 Rodney Parham Road, Little Rock, AR 72212 (**C**)

**(C)** 

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 Rate Categories (cont'd.)
    - E) Switched Transport (cont'd.)
      - 1) Tandem-Switched Transport Rate Category (cont'd.)

In addition, the customer has an option to purchase direct trunks to the LEC access tandem. If the customer chooses this option, the per-mile, per-MOU rate shall be measured as airline mileage between the LEC tandem and the end office (common traffic) using the V&H coordinates method for all of the customer's usage at that specific tandem. The fixed per-MOU rate will also apply.

The Tandem-Switched Transport fixed rate and the Tandem Transmission per-mile, per-MOU rate also apply to FGA/Lineside Switched Access Service with a Voice Grade facility. The miles are measured from the DTO to the End Office.

- 2) Switched Transport Rate Elements
  - (a) Direct-Trunked Transport

The Direct-Trunked Transport monthly rate provides for the transmission facilities between the SWC of the customer's facilities to the end office based on the capacity of the facility requested, i.e., Voice Grade, DS1, or DS3. When Lineside Switched Access service is ordered, the Voice Grade Direct-Trunked transport rate is assessed for each Lineside service requested unless the customer requests a Direct-Trunked Transport facility of higher capacity. There are two rates that apply, a fixed rate and a rate per mile. The Direct-Trunked Transport rate is in addition to the Entrance Facility rate. Mileage measurement is described in 2.10.2.

Issued: June 1, 2017 Effective: July 1, 2017

(C) | | | | (C)

Supplement No. 7 to Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 Section 3 First Revised Page 26 Cancels Original Page 26

Windstream D&E Systems, Inc.

# **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

- 3.1 <u>Switched Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.1.2 <u>Rate Categories</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Switched Transport</u> (cont'd.)
      - 2) Switched Transport Rate Elements (cont'd.)
        - (b) Tandem Transport Charge

The Tandem Transport Charge is assessed on a per minute of use basis. There are two rates that apply, a fixed rate and a rate per mile, per minute. The Tandem Transport rate is in addition to the Entrance Facility rate. Mileage measurement is described in 2.10.2.

(c) [Reserved for Future Use]



Issued: June 1, 2017 Effective: July 1, 2017

Section 3 Original Page 27

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.2 Special Access Service

#### 3.2.1 General

Special Access Service provides a transmission path to connect customer designated premises\*, either directly or through a Telephone Company Hub where bridging or multiplexing functions are performed. Special Access Service includes all exchange access not utilizing Telephone Company end office switches.

The connections provided by Special Access Service can be either analog or digital. Analog connections are differentiated by spectrum and bandwidth. Digital connections are differentiated by bit rate.

# A) <u>Channel Types</u>

There are three types of channels used to provide Special Access Services. Each type has its own characteristics. All are subdivided by one or more of the following:

- Transmission specifications,
- Bandwidth,
- Speed (i.e., bit rate).
- Spectrum

Customers can order a basic channel and select, from a list of available transmission parameters and channel interfaces, those that they desire to meet specific communications requirements.

For purposes of ordering channels, each has been identified as a type of Special Access Service. However, such identification is not intended to limit a customer's use of the channel nor to imply that the channel is limited to a particular use.

<sup>\*</sup> Telephone Company Centrex CO-like switches are considered to be customer premises for purposes of this tariff.

Section 3 Original Page 28

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

### A) <u>Channel Types</u> (cont'd.)

Following is a brief description of each type of channel:

Voice Grade - a channel for the transmission of analog signals within an approximate bandwidth of 300-3000Hz.

Digital Data - a channel for the digital transmission of synchronous serial data at rates of 2.4, 4.8, 9.6, 19.2, 56.0 or 64 kbps.

High Capacity - a channel for the transmission of iso-chronous serial digital data at rates of 1.544 or 44.736 Mbps.

Detailed descriptions of each of the channel types are provided in 3.2.2 following.

The Customer also has the option of ordering digital high capacity facilities (i.e., 1.544 Mbps and 44.736 Mbps) to a Telephone Company Hub for multiplexing to individual channels of a lower capacity or bandwidth. Descriptions of the types of multiplexing available at the Hubs, as well as the number of individual channels which may be derived from each type of facility are set forth in 3.2.2 following. Additionally, the Customer may specify optional features for the individual channels derived from the facility to further tailor the channel to meet specific communications requirements. Descriptions of the optional features and functions available are also set forth in 3.2.2 following.

For example, a Customer may order a 1.544 Mbps facility from a Customer designated premises to a Telephone Company Hub. The 1.544 Mbps channels may be further multiplexed at the same or a different Hub to Voice Grade channels or may be extended to other customer designated premises. Optional features may be added to either the 1.544 Mbps of the Voice Grade Channels.

Section 3 Original Page 29

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

### B) <u>Rate Categories</u>

There are three basic rate elements which apply to Special Access Service:

- Channel Terminations (described in 3.2.1(B)(1) following)
- Channel Mileage (described in 3.2.1(B)(2) following)
- Optional Features and Functions (described in 3.2.1(B)(3) following)

#### 1) <u>Channel Termination</u>

The Channel Termination rate category provides for the communications path between a customer designated premises and the serving wire center of that premises. Included as part of the Channel Termination is a standard channel interface arrangement which defines the technical characteristics associated with the type of facilities to which the access service is to be connected at the Point of Termination (POT) and the type of signaling capability, if any. The signaling capability itself is provided as an optional feature as set forth in (3) following. One Channel Termination charge applies per customer designated premises at which the channel is terminated. This charge will apply even if the Customer designated premises and the serving wire center are collocated in a Telephone Company building.

Section 3 Original Page 30

#### **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

#### 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>

### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

#### B) Rate Categories (cont'd.)

# 2) <u>Channel Mileage</u>

The Channel Mileage rate category provides for the transmission facilities between the serving wire center associated with two Customer designated premises, between a serving wire center associated with a Customer designated premises and a Telephone Company Hub or between two Telephone Company Hubs. Channel mileage is portrayed in mileage bands. There are two rates that apply for each band, i.e., a flat rate per band and a rate per mile.

# 3) Optional Features and Functions

The Optional Features and Functions rate category provides for optional features and functions which may be added to a Special Access Service to improve its quality or utility to meet specific communications requirements. These are not necessarily identifiable with specific equipment, but rather represent the end result in terms of performance characteristics which may be obtained. These characteristics may be obtained by using various combinations of equipment. Although the equipment necessary to perform a specified function may be installed at various locations along the path of the service, they will be charged for as a single rate element.

Examples of Optional Features and Functions that are available include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Signaling Capability
- Hubbing Functions
- Conditioning

Section 3 Original Page 31

## **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>

### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

### B) <u>Rate Categories</u> (cont'd.)

# 3) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)

A Hub is a Telephone Company designated serving wire center at which bridging or multiplexing functions are performed. The bridging functions performed are to connect three or more Customer designated premises in a multipoint arrangement. The multiplexing functions are to channelize analog or digital facilities to individual services requiring a lower capacity or bandwidth.

Descriptions for each of the available Optional Features and Functions are set forth in 3.2.2 following.

# C) <u>Service Configurations</u>

There are two types of service configurations over which Special Access Services are provided: two-point service and multipoint service.

# 1) <u>Two-Point Service</u>

A two-point service connects two Customer designated premises, either on a directly connected basis or through a HUB where multiplexing functions are performed.

Applicable rate elements are:

- Channel Terminations
- Channel Mileage (as applicable)
- Optional Features and Functions (when applicable)

Section 3 Original Page 32

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

# C) <u>Service Configurations</u> (cont'd.)

#### 2) <u>Multipoint Service</u>

Multipoint service connects three or more Customer designated premises through a telephone Company Hub. There is no limitation on the number of mid-links available with multipoint service. However, when more than three mid-links are provided in tandem, the quality of the service may be degraded. A mid-link is a channel between Hubs (i.e., bridging locations). Only certain types of Special Access Service are provided as multipoint service. These are so designated in the Service Descriptions set forth in 3.2.2 following.

Multipoint service utilizing a customized technical specifications package as set forth in 3.2.2 following will be provided when technically possible. If the Telephone Company determines that the requested characteristics for a multipoint service are not compatible, the Customer will be advised and given the opportunity to change the order.

When ordering, the Customer will specify the desired bridging Hub(s) selected from the National Exchange Carrier Association Tariff F.C.C. No. 4. This Tariff identifies the type(s) of bridging functions which are available and the serving wire centers at which they are available.

Applicable rate Elements are:

- Channel Terminations (one per customer designated premises)
- Channel Mileage (as applicable between each designated customer premises and the Hub and between Hubs)
- Bridging
- Additional Optional Features (when applicable)

Section 3 Original Page 33

#### **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)

### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

### D) <u>Design Layout Report</u>

At the request of the Customer, the Telephone Company will provide to the Customer the make-up of the facilities and services provided under this tariff as Special Access Service to aid the Customer in designing its overall service. This information will be provided in the form of a Design Layout Report. The Design Layout Report will be provided to the Customer at no charge, and will be reissued or updated whenever these facilities are materially changed.

# E) <u>Acceptance Testing</u>

At no additional charge, the Telephone Company will, at the Customer's request, cooperatively test, at the time of installation, the following parameters:

- 1) For Voice Grade analog services, acceptance tests will include tests for loss 3-tone slope, DC continuity, operational signaling, C-notched noise and C-message noise when these parameters are applicable and specified in the order for service. Additionally, for Voice Grade services, a balance (improved loss) test will be made if the Customer has ordered the improved loss optional feature.
- 2) For other analog services and for digital services (i.e., Digital Data and High Capacity), acceptance tests will include tests for the parameters applicable to the service as specified in the order for service.

In addition to the above test, Additional Cooperative AcceptanceTesting for Voice Grade Service to test other parameters, is available at the Customer's request. All tests will be made available to the Customer upon request.

Section 3 Original Page 34

#### **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)

### 3.2.1 General (cont'd.)

(F) Ordering Options and Conditions

Special Access Service is ordered under the Access Order provisions set forth in Section 2 preceding. Also included in that section are other charges which may e associated with ordering Special Access Service (e.g., Service Date Charges, Cancellation Charges, etc.)

#### 3.2.2 Service Descriptions

For the purposes of ordering, there are three categories of Special Access Service. These are:

Voice Grade	(VG)
Digital Data	(DA)
High Capacity	(HC)

Each service consists of a basic channel to which a technical specifications package (customized or predefined), channel interface (s) and, when desired, optional features and functions are added to construct the service desired by the customer. Each of the components of the service are described in this section.

Customized technical specifications packages will be provided where technically feasible. If the Telephone Company determines that the requested parameter specifications are not compatible, the Customer will be advised and given the opportunity to change the order.

When customized channel is ordered the Customer will be notified whether Additional Engineering Charges apply. In such cases, the Customer will be given an estimate of the hours to be billed before any further action is taken on the order.

Section 3 Original Page 35

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

### 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)

The channel description specifies the characteristics of the basic channel and indicates whether the channel is provided between customer designated premises or is provided between a customer designated premises and a Telephone Company Hub where bridging or multiplexing functions are performed.

Information pertaining to the technical specifications packages indicates the transmission parameters that are available with each package. This information is displayed in a matrix with the transmission parameters listed down the left side and the packages listed across the top. Each package is identified by a code, e.g., VGC. The first two letters of the code indicate the category of Special Access Service to which the parameters are applicable. These two letter codes are shown above in parentheses following the category of Special Access. The letter 'C' following the two letter code indicates the technical specifications package for a customized service. A numeric or alpha-numeric designation following the two letter code indicates the specific predefined package. For a customized service, the Customer may select any parameters available with that category of service as long as the parameters are compatible. When appropriate, the Technical Reference which contains detailed specifications for the parameters is shown following the matrix.

Channel interfaces at each point of termination on a two-point service may be symmetrical or asymmetrical. On a multipoint service they may also by symmetrical or asymmetrical. However, communications can only be provided between points of termination with compatible channel interfaces. Only certain channel interfaces are compatible. These are set forth in 3.2.3 following in a combination format.

Only certain channel interface combinations are available with the predefined technical specifications packages. These are delineated in the Technical References set forth at the end of the 3.2.2. When a customized channel is requested, all channel interface combinations available with the specified type of service are available with the customized channel.

#### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

# 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)

The optional features and functions available with each type of Special Access Service are described in this section. The optional features and functions information also indicates with which technical specifications packages are available. Such information is displayed in a matrix with the optional feature or function listed down the left side and the technical specifications package listed across the top.

The Telephone Company will maintain existing transmission specifications on services installed prior to the effective date of this tariff, except that the existing services with performance specifications exceeding the standard listed in this provision will be maintained at the performance levels specified in this tariff. All services installed after the effective date of this tariff will conform to the transmission specification standards contained in this tariff or in the following Technical Reference for each category of service:

Voice Grade	PUB	62501
	PUB	41004
Digital Data	PUB	62507
	PUB	62310
High Capacity	PUB	62508
	PUB	62411

# A) <u>Voice Grade Service</u>

# 1) Basic Channel Description

A Voice Grade channel is a channel which provides voice frequency transmission capability in the nominal frequency range of 300 to 3000 Hz and may be terminated two-wire or four-wire. Voice grade channels are provided between customer designated premises or between a customer designated premises and a Telephone Company Hub.

Section 3 Original Page 37

# **SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS**

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>

# A) <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)

# (2) <u>Technical Specifications Packages</u>

<u>Parameter</u>	<u>C*</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>7</u>	<u>8</u>	9	<u>10</u>	<u>11</u>	<u>12</u>
Attenuation Distortion	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
C-Message Noise	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Echo Control	X	X	X	X		X		X	X			X	X
Envelope Delay Distortion	X						X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Frequency Shift	X						X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Impulse Noise	X					X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Intermodulation Distortion	X						X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Loss Deviation	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Phase Hits, Gain hits and dropouts	X												
Phase Jitter	X					X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Signal-to-C Message Noise	X				X								
Signal-to-C Notch Noise	X					X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X

<sup>\*</sup> The desired parameters are selected by the customer from the list of available parameters.

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 Service Descriptions (cont'd.)
    - Voice Grade Service (cont'd.) A)
      - 2) <u>Technical Specifications Packages</u> (cont'd.)

The technical specifications for these parameters (except for dropouts, gain hits, and phase hits) are delineated in Technical Reference PUB 62501 and associated Addendum. The technical specifications for dropouts, phase hits, and gain hits are delineated in Technical Reference PUB 41004. Table 4.

#### 3) **Channel Interfaces**

The following channel interfaces for Voice grade service do not require signaling capability: AH, DA, DB, DD, DE, DS, NO, PR and TF.

The following channel interfaces for Voice Grade service require signaling capability: AB, AC, CT, DX, DY, EA, EB, EC, EX, GO, GS, LA, LB, LC, LO, LR, LS, RV and SF.

Compatible channel interfaces are set forth in 3.2.3(E) following.

- **Optional Features and Functions** 4)
  - Central Office Bridging Capability (a)
    - (1) Voice Bridging (two-wire or four-wire)
    - (2) Data Bridging (two-wire or four-wire)
    - Telephoto Bridging (two-wire or four-wire) (3)

Section 3 Original Page 39

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)
        - (b) <u>Central Office Multiplexing</u>

Voice to Telegraph Grade: An arrangement that converts a Voice Grade channel to Telegraph Grade channels using frequency division multiplexing.

# (c) <u>Conditioning</u>

Conditioning provides more specific transmission characteristics for Voice Grade services. C-Type conditioning controls attenuation distortion and envelope delay distortion. Sealing Current helps maintain continuity on dry metallic loops.

For two-point services, the parameters apply to each service. For multipoint services, the parameters apply to each mid link or end link. C-Type conditioning and Data Capability may be combined on the same service.

## (1) <u>C-Type Conditioning</u>

C-Type Conditioning is provided for the additional control of attenuation distortion and envelope delay distortion on data services. The attenuation distortion and envelope delay distortion specifications for C-Type Conditioning are:

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Voice Grade Service (cont'd.)</u>
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)
        - (c) <u>Conditioning</u> (cont'd.)
          - (1) <u>C-Type Conditioning</u> (cont'd.)

Attenuation Distortion (Frequency Response)
Relative to 1004 Hz

Frequency	Variation
Range (HZ)	<u>(db)</u>
400-2800	-1.0 to $+2.0$
300-3000	-1.0 to $+3.0$
3000-3200	-2.0 to $+6.0$

# Envelope Delay <u>Distortion</u>

Frequency	Variation
Range (Hz)	(micro-seconds)
1000-2600	100
800-2600	200
600-2600	300
500-2800	600
500-300	3000

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 Service Descriptions (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)
        - (c) Conditioning (cont'd.)
          - **Sealing Current Conditions** (2)

Sealing Current conditioning is provided to help maintain continuity on dry metallic loops. It is usually associated with four-wire DA or NO type channel interfaces.

(d) Customer Specified Premises Receive Level

> This option allows the Customer to specify the receive level at the Point of Termination. This level must be within a specific range on effective four-wire transmission. The ranges are delineated in Technical Reference PUB 62501.

- (e) Improved Return Loss
  - (1) On Effective Four-Wire Transmission at Four-Wire Point of Termination (applicable to each two-wire port): Provides for a fixed 600 ohm impedance, variable level range and simplex reversal. Telephone Company equipment is required at the Customer's premises where this option is ordered. The Improved Return Loss parameters are delineated in Technical Reference PUB 62501.

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 Service Descriptions (cont'd.)
    - A) Voice Grade Service (cont'd.)
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)
        - (e) Improved Return Loss (cont'd.)
          - On Effective Two-Wire Transmission at Two-(2) Wire Point of Termination: Provides for more stringent Echo Control Specifications. In order for this option to be applicable, the transmission path must be four-wire at one POT and two-wire at the other POT. Placement of Telephone Company equipment may be required at the Customer's premises with the two-wire POT. The Improved Return Loss parameters are delineated in Technical Reference PUB 62501.
        - (f) **Data Capability**

Data Capability provides transmission characteristics suitable for data communications. Specifically, Data Capability provides for the control of Signal to C-Notched Noise Ratio and intermodulation distortion. It is available for two-point services or multipoint services.

The Signal to C-Notched Noise Ratio and intermodulation distortion parameters for Data Capability are:

- Signal to C-Notched Noise Ratio is equal to or greater than 32dB

Section 3 Original Page 43

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)
        - (f) <u>Data Capability</u> (cont'd.)
          - Intermodulation distortion:
            - Signal to second order modulation products (R2) is equal to or greater than 38dB
            - Signal to third order modulation products (R3) is equal to or greater than 42dB

When a service equipped with Data Capability is used for voice communications, the quality of the voice transmission may not be satisfactory.

(g) <u>Telephoto Capability</u>

Telephoto Capability provides transmission characteristics suitable for telephotographic communications. Specifically, Telephoto Capability is provided for the control of attenuation distortion and envelope delay distortion on telephotographic services. The attenuation distortion and envelope delay distortion parameters for Telephoto Capability are:

Section 3 Original Page 44

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Voice Grade Service (cont'd.)</u>
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)
        - (g) <u>Telephoto Capability</u> (cont'd.)

# Attenuation Distortion (1004 Hz Reference)

Frequency	Variation
Range (Hz)	<u>d(B)</u>
500-3000	-0.5 to $+1.5$
300-3200	-1.0 to $+2.5$

# **Envelope Delay Distortion**

Frequency	Variation
Range (Hz)	(mcs)
1000-26000	110
800-2800	180

# (h) <u>Signaling Capability</u>

Signaling Capability provides for the process by which one customer premises alerts another customer premises on the same service with which it wishes to communicate.

# (i) <u>Selective Signaling Arrangement</u>

An arrangement that permits code selective ringing for up to ten codes on a multipoint service.

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)

The following table show the technical specifications packages with which the optional features and functions are available.

Available with Technical

Specifications Package VG-1 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 C-Type Conditioning X  $X \quad X \quad X \quad X \quad X \quad X$ Central Office - Bridging Capability X X X XX X X X Central Office - Multiplexing X Customer Specified Premise Receive Level X X X $X \quad X \quad X$ **Data Capability** X X XX Improved Return Loss: for Effective Four-Wire Transmission for Effective X Two- Wire Transmission X X XX **Sealing Current Conditioning** X X X Selective Signaling Arrangement X Signaling Capability  $X \quad X \quad X \quad X$  $X \quad X \quad X$ Telephoto Capability X

Section 3 Original Page 46

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - B) <u>Digital Data Service</u>
      - 1) <u>Basic Channel Description</u>

A Digital Data channel is a channel for duplex four-wire transmission of synchronous serial data at the rate of 2.4, 4.8, 9.6, 19.2, 56 or 64 kbps. The actual bit rate is a function of the channel interface selected by the Customer. The channel provides a synchronous service with timing provided by the Telephone Company through the Telephone Company's facilities to the Customer in the received bit speed. Digital Data channels are only available via Telephone Company designated hubs and provided between customer designated premises or between a customer designated premises and a Telephone Company Hub.

The Customer may provide the Channel Service Unit-type equipment or other Network Channel Terminating Equipment associated with the Digital Data channel at the Customer premises. The interim program for interconnection of such equipment is set forth in Technical Reference PUB AS No. 1.

#### 2) Technical Specifications Packages

	<u>Pa</u>	ckag	ge D	<u>4</u>
Parameter	1	2	3	4
Error-Free Seconds	$\overline{X}$	X	X	X

The Telephone Company will provide a channel capable of meeting a monthly average performance equal to or greater than 99.875% error-free seconds while the channel is in service, if it measured through a CSU equivalent which is designed, manufactured, and maintained to conform with the specifications contained in Technical Reference PUB 62310.

Section 3 Original Page 47

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - B) <u>Digital Data Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 2) <u>Technical Specifications Packages</u> (cont'd.)

Voltages which are compatible with Digital Data Service are delineated in Technical Reference PUB 62507.

3) <u>Channel Interfaces</u>

The following channel interfaces (CIs) define the bit rates that are available for a Digital Data channel:

<u>C1</u>	Bit Rate
DU- <u>24</u>	2.4 kbps
DU-48	4.8 Kbps
DU-96	9.6 kbps
DU-19	19.2 kbps
DU-56	56.0 kbps
DU-64	64.0 kbps

Compatible channel interfaces are set forth in 3.2.3(F)(2) following.

4) Optional Feature and Functions

The following table shows the technical specifications packages with which the optional features and functions are available.

Available with Technical

Specifications Package DA 
1 2 3 4

X X X X

Central Office Bridging Capability

Section 3 Original Page 48

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) <u>High Capacity Service</u>
      - 1) <u>Basic Channel Description</u>

A High Capacity channel is a channel for the transmission of 1.544 or 44.736 Mbps isochronous serial data. The actual bit rate and framing format is a function of the channel interface selected by the Customer. High Capacity channels are provided between customer designated premises or between a customer designated premises and a Telephone Company Hub.

The customer may provide the Network Channel Terminating Equipment associated with the High Capacity channel at the customer's premises. The interim program for interconnection of such equipment is set forth in Technical Reference PUC AS No. 1.

2) <u>Technical Specifications Packages</u>

		Package HC-					
<u>Parameters</u>	0	1	1C	2	3	4	
Error-Free Seconds		X					

A channel with technical specifications package HC1 will be capable of an error-free second performance of 98.75% over a continuous 24 hour period as measured at the 1.544 Mbps rate through a CSU equivalent which is designed, manufactured and maintained to conform with the specifications contained in Technical Reference PUB 62411.

Section 3 Original Page 49

# SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) <u>High Capacity Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 3) <u>Channel Interfaces</u>

The following channel interfaces (CIs) define the bit rates that are available for a High Capacity channel:

<u>CI</u> <u>Bit Rate</u>

DS-15 1.544 Mbps (DS1)

DS-44 44.735 Mbps (DS3)

Compatible channel interfaces are set for the 3.2.3(E).

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 Service Descriptions (cont'd.)
    - C) High Capacity Services (cont'd.)
      - 4) **Optional Features and Functions** 
        - (a) Central Office Multiplexing
          - (1) DS3 to DS1

An arrangement that converts a 44.736 Mbps channel to 28 DS1 channels using digital time division multiplexing.

(2) DS1 to Voice

> An arrangement that converts a 1.544 Mbps channel to 24 channels for use with Voice Grade Services. A channel of this DS1 to the Hub can also be used for a Digital Data Service.

(3) DS1 to DS0

> An arrangement that converts a 1.544 Mbps channel to 24 64.0 kbps channels utilizing digital time division multiplexing.

(4) DS0 to Subrate

> An arrangement that converts a 64.0 kbps channel to subspeeds of up to twenty 2.4 kbps, ten 4.8 kbps or five 9.6 kbps channels using digital time division multiplexing.

Section 3 Original Page 51

# SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.2 <u>Service Descriptions</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) <u>High Capacity Service</u> (cont'd.)
      - 4) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)

The following table shows the technical specifications packages with which the optional features and functions are available.

			Available Specifica		
	0	1	_	3	4
Central Office Multiplexing:					
DS3 to DS1				X	
DS1 to Voice		X			
DS1 to DS0		X			
DS0 to Subrate*	X				

<sup>\*</sup>Available only on a channel of a 1.544 Mbps facility to a Telephone Company Hub.

#### 3.2.3 Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes

This section explains the Channel Interface codes and Network Channel codes that the Customer must specify when ordering Special Access Service. Included is an example which explains the specific characters of the code, a glossary of Channel Interface codes, impedance levels, Network Channel codes and compatible Channel Interfaces.

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>

# 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)

<u>Example</u>: if the Customer specifies a NT Network Channel Code and a 2DC8-3 Channel Interface at the Customer's premises, the following is being requested:

NT =	Metallic Channel with a Predefined technical
	Specification Package (1)
2 =	Number of physical wires at customer premises
DC =	Facility interface for direct current or voltage
8 =	Variable impedance level
3 =	Metallic facilities (DC continuity) for direct current/low
	frequency control signals or slow speed data (30 baud)

# A) Glossary of Channel Interface Codes and Options

Code		<u>Option</u>	<u>Definition</u>
AB	-		accepts 20 Hz ringing signal at customer's point of termination
AC	-		accepts 20 Hz ringing signal at customer's end user's point of termination
AH	-		analog high capacity interface
		В	60 kHz to 108 kHz (12 channels)
		C	312 kHz to 552 kHz (60 channels)
		D	564 kHz to 3084 kHz (600 channels)
CT	-		Centrex Tie Trunk Termination
DA	-		data stream in VF frequency band at
			customer's end user's point of termination
DB	-		data stream in VF frequency band at
			customer's point of termination
		10	VF for TG1 and TG2
		43	VF for 43 Telegraph Carrier type signals, TG1 and TG2

Section 3 Original Page 53

# SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) Glossary of Channel Interface Codes and Options (cont'd.)

Code	<u>Option</u>	<u>Definition</u>
DS-	15 15E 15F 15G 15H 15J 15K	digital hierarchy interface 1.544 Mbps (DS1) format per PUB 41451 plus D4 8-bit PCM encoded in one 64 kbps on the DS1 signal 8-bit PCM encoded in two 64 kbps of the DS1 signal 8-bit PCM encoded in three 64 kbps of the DS1 signal 14/11-bit PCM encoded in six 64 kbps of the DS1 signal 1.544 Mbps format per PUB 41451 1.544 Mbps format per PUB 41451 plus extended framing format 1.544 Mbps (DS1) with SF signaling
	44 44L	44.736 Mbps (DS3) 44.736 Mbps (DS3) with SF signaling
DU -	19 24 48 56 96 A B C	digital access interface 19.2 kbps 2.4 kbps 4.8 kbps 56.0 kbps 9.6 kbps 1.544 Mbps format per PUB 41451 1.544 Mbps format per PUB 41451 plus D4 1.544 Mbps format per PUB 41451 plus extended framing
DX -		format duplex signaling interface at customer's point of termination

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) Glossary of Channel Interface Codes and Options (cont'd.)

<u>Code</u>	<u>Option</u>	<u>Definition</u>
DY		duplex signaling interface at customer's end user's point of termination
EA	E	Type I E&M Lead Signaling. Customer at POT or customer's end user at POT originates on E Lead
EA	M	Type I E&M Lead Signaling. Customer at POT or customer's end user at POT originates on M Lead
EB	E	Type II E&M Lead Signaling. Customer at POT or customer's end user at POT originates on E Lead
EB	M	Type II E&M Lead Signaling. Customer at POT or customer's end user at POT originates on M Lead
EC		Type III E&M signaling at customer POT
EX	A	tandem channel unit signaling for loop start or ground start and customer supplies open end (dial tone, etc.) functions
EX	В	tandem channel unit signaling for loop start or ground start and customer supplies closed end (dial pulsing, etc.) functions
GO		ground start loop signaling - open end function by customer
GS		ground start loop signaling - closed end function by customer or customer's end user
IA		E.I.A. (25 pin RS-232)
LA		end user loop start loop signaling - Type A OPS registered port open end
LB		end user loop start loop signaling - Type B OPS registered port open end
LC		end user loop start loop signaling - Type C OPS registered port open end

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - A) Glossary of Channel Interface Codes and Options (cont'd.)

Code	Option	<u>Definition</u>
	_	
LO		loop start loop signaling - open end function by customer
		or customer's end user
LR		20 Hz automatic ringdown interface at customer with
		Telephone Company provided PLAR
LS		loop start signaling - closed end function by customer or
		customer's end user
NO		no signaling interface, transmission only program
		transmission - no dc signaling
	1	nominal frequency from 50 to 15000 Hz
	3	nominal frequency form 200 to 3500 Hz
	5	nominal frequency from 100 to 5000 Hz
	8	nominal frequency from 50 to 8000 Hz
PR		protective relaying*
RV	0	reverse battery signaling, one way operation, originate by
		customer
T		reverse battery signaling, one way operation, terminate
		function by customer or customer's end user
SF		single frequency signaling with VF band at either customer
		POT or customer's end user POT
TF		telephotograph interface

<sup>\*</sup> Available only for the transmission of audio tone protective relaying signals used in the protection of electric power systems during fault conditions.

Section 3 Original Page 56

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

## 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>

# 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)

# B) <u>Impedance</u>

The nominal reference impedance with which the channel will be terminated for the purpose of evaluating transmission performance:

Value (ohms)	Code(s)
110	0
150	1
600	2
900	3+
135	5
75	6
124	7
Variable	8
100	9

<sup>+</sup> For those interface codes with a 4-wire transmission path at the customer designated POT, rather than a standard 900 ohm impedance, the code (3) denotes a customer provided transmission equipment termination.

Section 3 Original Page 57

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 Switched Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) <u>Digital Hierarchy Channel Interface Codes</u> (4DS)

Customers selecting multiplexing four-wire DSX-1 or higher facility interface option at the Customer designated premises will be requested to provide subsequent system and channel assignment data. The various digital bit rates in the digital hierarchy employ the channel interface code 4DS8, 4DS9, 4DS0 or 4DS6 plus the speed options indicated below:

Interface Code and Speed Option	Nominal Bit Rate (Mbps)	Digital <u>Hierarchy Level</u>
4DS8-15	1.544	DS1
4DS6-44	44.736	DS3

#### D) Service Designator/Network Channel Code Conversion Table

The purpose of this table is to show the relationship between the service designator codes (e.g., VGC, MT2, etc.) and the network channel codes that are used for various administrative purposes:

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - D) <u>Service Designator/Network Channel Code Conversion Table</u> (cont'd)

Service Designator	Network Channel
Code	Code
VGC	LQ
VG1	LB
VG2	LC
VG3	LD
VG4	LE
VG5	LF
VG6	LG
VG7	LH
VG8	LJ
VG9	LK
VG10	LN
VG11	LP
VG12	LR
DA1	XA
DA2	XB
DA3	XG
DA4	XH
НСО	HS
HC1	НС
HC3	HF

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)

      The following tables show the channel interface codes (CIs) which are compatible:
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u>

Compatibl	e Cls	Compatible	Cls	Compatib	le Cls
4AB2	4AB2	*		-	
4AB2	4AC2	4AH5-B	6DA2	4AH6-D	2DY2
4AB3	4AC2	4AH5-B	4DA2	4AH6-C	9DY2
4AB2	2AC2	4AH5-B	2DA2	4AH6-C	9DY3
4AB3	2AC2			4AH6-C	6DY2
2AB2	2AC2	4AH6-D	4DE2	4AD6-C	6DY3
2AB3	2AC2	4AH6-C	4DE2	4AH6-C	4DY2
4AB2	4SF2	4AH5-B	4DE2	4AH6-C	2DY2
4AB3	4SF2	4AH6-D	2DE2	4AH5-B	9DY2
4AC2	4AC2	4AH6-C	2DE2	4AH5-B	9DY3
4AC2	2AC2	4AH5-B	2DE2	4AH5-B	6DY2
4AH6-D	4AC2			4AH5-B	6DY3
4AH6-D	2AC2	4AH6-D	4DX3	4AH5-B	4DY2
4AH6-C	41C2	4AH6-C	4DX3	4AH5-B	2DY2
4AH6-C	2AC2	4AH5-B	4DX3		
4AH5-B	4AC2	4AH6-D	4DX2	4AH6-D	9EA2
4AH5-B	2AC2	4AH6-C	4DX2	4AH6-D	9EA3
		4AH5-B	4DX2	4AH6-D	6EA2-E
4AH6-D	2CT3			4AH6-D	6EA2-M
4AH6-C	2CT3	4AH6-D	9DY2	4AH6-D	4EA2-E
4AH5-B	2CTS	4AH6-D	9DY3	4AH6-D	4EA2-M
4AH6-D	6DA2	4AH6-D	6DY2	4AH6-C	9EA2
4AH6-D	4DA2	4AH6-D	6DY3	4AH6-C	9EA3
4AH6-D	2AD2	4AH6-D	4DY2	4AH6-C	6EA2-E
4AH6-C	6DA2				
4AH6-C	4DA2				
4AH6-C	2DA2				

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

<b>Compatibl</b>	e Cls	Compatible	Cls	<b>Compatib</b>	le Cls
4AH6-C	6EA2-M	4AH6-D	6GS2	4AH6-D	2LO2
4AH6-C	4EA2-E	4AH6-D	4GS2	4AH6-C	2LO3
4AH6-C	4EA2-M	4AH6-D	2GS3	4AH6-C	2LOS
4AH5-B	9EA2	4AH6-D	2GS2	4AH5-B	2LO3
4AH5-B	9EA3	4AH6-C	6GS2	4AH5-B	2LO2
4AH5-B	6EA2-E	4AH6-C	4GS2		
4AH5-B	6EA2-M	4AH6-C	2GS3	4AH6-D	4LR2
4AH5-B	4EA2-E	4AH6-C	2GS2	4AH6-D	2LR2
4AH5-B	4EA2-M	4AH5-B	6GS2	4AH6-C	4LR2
		4AHR-B	4GS2	4AH6-C	2LR2
4AH6-D	8EB2-E	4AH5-B	2GS3	4AH5-B	4LR2
4AH6-D	8EB2-M	4AH5-B	2GS2	4AH5-B	2LR2
4AH6-D	6EB2-E				
4AH6-D	6EB2-M	4AH6-D	2LA2	4AH6-D	6LS2
4AH6-C	8EB2-E	4AH6-C	2LA2	4AH6-D	4LS2
4AH6-C	8EB2-M	4AH5-B	2LA2	4AH6-D	2LS2
4AH6-C	6EB2-E			4AH6-D	2LS3
4AH6-C	6EB2-M	4AH6-D	2LB2	4AH6-C	6LS2
4AH5-B	8EB2-E	4AH6-C	2LB2	4AH6-C	4LS2
4AH5-B	8EB2-M	4AH5-B	2LB2	4AH6-C	2LS2
4AH5-B	6EB2-E			4AH6-C	2LS3
4AH5-B	6EB2-M	4AH6-D	2LC2	4AH5-B	6LS2
		4AH6-C	2LC2	4AH5-B	4LS2
4AH6-D	2GO2	4AH5-B	2LC2	4AH5-B	2LS2
4AH6-D	2GO3			4AH5-B	2LS3
4AH6-C	2GO2	4AH6-D	2LO3		
4AH6-C	2GO3				
4AH5-B	2GO2				
4AH5-B	2GO3				

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatibl	e Cls	Compatible	Cls	Compatib	ole Cls
4AH6-D	4NO2	4AH6-D	4TF2	2CT3	6EB2-E
4AH6-D	2NO2	4AH6-D	2TF2	2CT3	6EB2-M
4AH6-C	4NO2	4AH6-C	4TF2	2CT3	6EB3-E
4AH6-C	2NO2	4AH6-C	2TF2		
4AH5-B	4NO2	4AH5-B	4TF2	2CT3	8EB2-E
		2CT3	2CT3		
4AH6-D	4PR2	2CT3	4DS8	2CT3	8EC2
4AH6-D	2PR2				
4AH6-C	4PR2	2CT3	6DX2	2CT3	4SF2
4AH6-C	2PR2	2CT3	4DX2	2CT3	4SF3
4AH5-B	4PR2	2CTS	4DX3		
4AH5-B	2PR2				
4AH6-D	4RV2-T	2CT3	9DY3		
4AH6-D	2RV2-T	2CT3	6DY3		
4AH6-C	4RV2-T	2CT3	9DY2		
4AH6-C	2RV2-T	2CT3	6DY2		
4AH5-B	4RV2-T	2CT3	4DY2		
4AH5-B	2RV2-T	2CT3	2DY2		
4AH6-D	4SF2	2CT3	9EA3		
4AH6-C	4SF2	2CT3	9EA2		
4AH5-B	4SF2	2CT3	6EA2-E		
4AH6-D	4SF3	2CT3	6EA2-M		
4AH6-C	4SF3	2CT3	4EA2-E		
4AH5-B	4SF3	2CT3	4EA2-M		

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatible Cls		<u>Compatible</u>	Compatible Cls		
			4AC2		
		4DS8	2AC2		
		4DS8	6DA2		
		4DS8	4DA2		
6DA2	6DA2	4DS8	2DA2		
6DA2	4DA2				
6DA2	2DA2	4DS8	4DE2		
4DA2	4DA2	4DS8	2DE2		
4DA2	2DA2				
2DA2	2DA2	4DS8	4DX3		
4DB2	6DA2	4DS8	4DX2		
4DB2	4DA2				
4DB2	2DA2	4DS8	9DY3		
2DB3	2DA2	4DS8	9DY2		
2DB2	2DA2	4DS8	6DY3		
4DB2	4DB2	4DS8	6DY2		
4DB2	4NO2	4DS8	4DY2		
4DB2	2NO2	4DS8	2DY2		
2DB2	2NO2				
		4DS8	9EA2		
4DB2	4PR2	4DS8	9EA3		
4DB2	2PR2	4DS8	6EA2-E		
4DB2	2PR2	4DS8	6EA2-M		
		4DS8	4EA2-E		
4DD3	4DE2	4DS8	4EA2-M		
4DD3	2DE2				

# 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>

# 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)

# E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)

# 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compati	ble Cls	Compatibl	e Cls	Compati	ble Cls
4DS8	8EB2-E	4DS8	4NO2	4DX3	9DY2
4DS8	8EB2-M	4DS8	2NO2	4DX2	6DY3
4DS8	6EB2-E			4DX3	6DY3
4DS8	6EB2-M	4DS8	4PR2	4DX2	6DY2
		4DS8	2PR2	4DX3	6DY2
4DS9	2GO2			4DX2	4DY2
4DS8	2GO3	4DS8	4RV2-7	4DX3	4DY2
4DS8	6GS2	4DS8	2RV2-T	4DX2	2DY2
4DS8	4GS2			4DX3	2DY2
4DS8	2GS2	4DS8	4SF2		
4DS8	2GS3	4DS8	4SF3	6DX2	9EA3
				6DX2	9EA
4DS8	2LA2	4DS8	4TF2	6DX2	6EA2-E
		4DS8	2TF2	6DX2	6EA2-M
4DS8	2LB2			6DX2	4EA2-E
		4DX2	4DX2	6DX2	4EA2-M
4DS8	2LC2	4DS3	4DX2	4DX2	9EA2
		4DX3	4DX3	4DX3	9EA2
4DS8	2LO2			4DX2	9EA3
4DS8	2LO3	6DX2	9DY3	4DX3	9EA3
		6DX2	9DY2	4DX2	6EA2-E
4DS8	4LR2	6DX2	6DY3	4DX3	6EA2-E
4DS8	2LR2	6DX2	6DY2	4DX2	6EA2-M
		6DX2	4DY2	4DX3	6EA2-M
4DS8	6LS2	6DX2	2DY2	4DX2	4EA2-E
4DS8	4LS2	4DX2	9DY3	4DX3	4EA2-E
4DS8	2LS2	4DX3	9DY3	4DX2	4EA2-M
4DS8	2LS3	4DX2	9DY2	4DX3	4EA2-M

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatib	<u>le Cls</u>	<b>Compatible</b>	le Cls	Compatib	le Cls
6DX2	8EB2-E	4DX2	6LS2	9DY2	6DY3
6DX2	8EB2-M	4DX3	6LS2	9DY3	4DY2
6DX2	6EB2-E	4DX3	4LS2	9DY2	4DY2
6DX2	6EB2-M	4DX2	4LS2	9DY2	2DY2
4DX2	8EB2-E	4DX3	2LS3	9DY3	2DY2
4DX2	8EB2-M	4DX2	2LS3	6DY3	6DY3
4DX3	8EB2-E	4DX3	2LS2	6DY3	6DY2
4DX3	8EB2-M	4DX2	2LS2	6DY2	6DY2
4DX2	6EB2-E	2DX3	2LS2	6DY3	4DY2
4DX2	6EB2-M	2DX3	2LS3	6DY3	2DY2
4DX3	6EB2-E			6DY2	4DY2
4DX3	6EB2-M	4DX3	4RV2-T	6DY2	2DY2
		4DX2	4RV2-T	4DY2	2DY2
4DX2	2LA2	4DX3	2RV2-T	4DY2	4DY2
4DX3	2LA2	4DX2	2RV2-T	2DY2	2DY2
2DX3	2LA2			6EA2-E	4AC2
		6DX2	4SF2	63A2-M	4AC2
4DX2	2LB2	4DX2	4SF2	6EA2-E	2AC2
4DX3	2LB2	4DX3	4SF2	6EA2-M	2AC2
2DX3	2LB2	4DX2	4SF3		
		4DX3	4SF3	9EA2	9DY3
4DX2	2LC2			9EA2	9DY2
4DX3	2LC2	9DY3	9DY3	9EA2	6DY3
2DX3	2LC2	9DY3	9DY2	9EA2	6DY2
		9DY2	9DY2	9EA2	4DY2
4DX2	2LO3	9DY3	6DY3	9EA2	2DY2
4DX3	2LO3	9DY3	6DY2	9EA3	9DY3
2DX3	2LO3	9DY2	6DY2		

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatibl	e Cls	Compatible	Cls	Compatib	ole Cls
9EA3	9DY2	4EA2-M	9DY2	4EA3-E	9EA2
9EA3	6DY3	4EA2-	M 6DY3	4EA3-E	9EA3
9EA3	6DY2	4EA2-M	6DY2	4EA2-M	4EA2-M
9EA3	4DY2	4EA2-M	4DY2		
9EA3	2DY2	4EA2-M	2DY2	9EA2	8EB2-E
6EA2-E	9DY3			9EA2	8EB2-M
6EA2-E	9DY2	9EA2	9EA2	9EA2	6EB2-E
6EA2-E	6DY3	9EA2	9EA3	9EA2	6EB2-M
6EA2-E	6DY2	9EA2	6EA2-E	9EA3	93B2-E
6EA2-E	4DY2	9EA2	6EA2-M	9EA3	8EB2-M
6EA2-E	2DY2	9EA2	4EA2-E	9EA3	6EB2-E
6EA2-M	9DY3	9EA2	4EA2-M	9EA3	6EB2-M
6EA2-M	9DY2	9EA3	9EA3	6EA2-E	8EB2-E
6EA2-M	6DY3	9EA3	6EA2-E	6EA2-E	8EB2-M
6EA2-M	6DY2	9EA3	6EA2-M	6EA2-E	6EB2-E
6EA2-M	4DY2	9EA3	4EA2-E	6EA2-E	6EB2-M
6EA2-M	2DY2	9EA3	4EA2-M	6EA2-M	8EB2-E
4EA2-E	9DY3	6EA2-3	6EA2-E	6EA2-M	8EB2-M
4EA2-E	9DY2	6EA2-E	6EA2-M	6EA2-M	6EB2-E
4EA3-E	9DY3	6EA2-M	6EA2-M	6EA2-M	6EB2-M
4EA3-E	9DY2	6EA2-E	4EA2-E	4EA2-E	8EB2-E
4EA3-E	6DY3	6EA2-E	4EA2-M	4EA2-E	8EB2-M
4EAS-E	6DY2	6EA2-M	4EA2-E	4EA3-E	9EB2-E
4EA3-E	4DY2	6EA2-M	4EA2-M	4EA3-E	8EB2-M
4EA3-E	2DY2	4EA2-E	4EA2-E	4EA2-E	6EB2-E
EAS2-E	6DY3	4EA3-E	6EA2-E	4EA2-E	6EB2-M
4EA2-E	6DY2	4EA3-E	6EA2-M	4EA3-E	6EB2-E
4EA2-E	4DY2	4EA3-E	4EA2-E	4EA3-E	6EB2-M
4EA2-E	2DY2	4EAS-E	4EA2-M	4EA2-M	8EB2-E
4EA2-M	9DY3	4EA2-E	4EA2-M		

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatibl	e Cls	Compatible	Cls	Compatib	le Cls
4EA2-M	8EB2-M	9EA3	4SF2	6EB3-E	9DY2
4EA2-M	6EB2-E	9EA2	4SF2	6EB3-E	9DY3
4EA2-M	6EB2-M	6EA2-E	4SF3	6EB2-E	6DY2
		6EA2-M	4SF3	6EB3-E	6DY2
6EA2-E	2LA2	6EA2-E	4SF2	6EB2-E	6DY3
6EA2-M	2LA2	6EA2-M	4SF2	6EB3-E	6DY3
		4EA3-E	4SF2	6EB2-E	4DY2
6EA2-E	2LB2	4EA2-E	4SF2	6EB3-E	2DY2
6EA2-M	2LB2	4EA2-M	4SF2	6EB3-E	4DY2
				6EB2-M	9DY2
6EA2-E	2LC2	8EB2-E	4AC2	6EB2-M	9DY3
6EA2-M	2LC2	8EB2-M	4AC2	6EB2-M	6DY2
		8EB2-E	2AC2	6EB2-M	6DY3
6EA2-E	2LO3	8EB2-M	2AC2	6EB2-M	4DY2
6EA2-M	2LO3			6EB2-E	2DY2
		8EB2-E	9DY3	6EB2-M	2DY2
6EA2-E	6LS2	8EB2-E	9DY2		
6EA2-M	6LS2	8EB2-E	6DY3	6EB3-E	9EA2
6EA2-E	4LS2	8EB2-E	6DY2	6EB3-E	9EA3
6EA2-M	4LS2	8EB2-E	4DY2	6EB3-E	6EA2-E
6EA2-E	2LS2	8EB2-E	2DY2	6EB3-E	6EA2-M
6EA2-M	2LS2	8EB2-M	9DY3	6EB3-E	4EA2-E
6EA2-E	2LS3	8EB2-M	9DY2	6EB3-E	4EA2-M
6EA2-M	2LS3	8EB2-M	6DY3		
		8EB2-M	6DY2	8EB2-E	8EB2-E
6EA2-E	4RV2-T	8EB2-M	4DY2	8EB2-E	8EB2-M
6EA2-M	45V2-T	8EB2-M	2DY2	8EB2-M	8EB2-M
6EA2-E	2RV2-T	6EB2-E	9DY2	8EB2-E	6EB2-E
6EA2-M	2RV2-T	6EB2-E	9DY3	8EB2-E	6EB2-M

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatibl	le Cls	<b>Compatible</b>	<u>Cls</u>	Compatib	le Cls
8EB2-M	6EB2-E	8EB2-E	4RV2-T	8EC2	8EB2-M
8EB2-M	6EB2-M	8EB2-M	4RV2-T	8EC2	6EB2-E
6EB2-E	6EB2-E	8EB2-E	2RV2-T	8EC2	6EB2-M
6EB2-E	6EB2-M	8EB2-M	2RV2-T		
6EB3-E	8EB2-E			8EC2	4SF2
6EB3-E	8EB2-M	8EB2-E	4SF2	6EX2-B	2G03
6EB2-M	6EB2-M	8EB2-M	4SF2	6EX2-A	6GS2
		8EB2-E	4SF3	6EX2-A	4GS2
8EB2-E	2LA2	8EB2-M	4SF3	6EX2-A	2GS2
8EB2-M	2LA2	6EB3-E	4SF2	6EX2-A	2GS3
		6EB2-E	4SF2		
8EB2-E	2LB2	6EB2-M	4SF2	6EX2-B	2LA2
8EB2-M	2LB2				
		8EC2	9DY2	6EX2-B	2LB2
8EB2-E	2LC2	8EC2	9DY3		
8EB2-M	2LC2	8EC2	6DY2	6EX2-B	2LC2
		8EC2	6DY3		
8EB2-E	2LO3	8EC2	4DY2	6EX2-B	2LO2
8EB2-M	2LO3	8EC2	2DY2	6EX2-B	2LO3
8EB2-E	6LS2	8EC2	9EA2	6EX2-B	4LR2
8EB2-M	6LS2	8EC2	9EA3	6EX2-B	2LR2
8EB2-E	4LS2	8EC2	6EA2-E		
8EB2-M	4LS2	8EC2	6EA2-M	6EX2-A	6LS2
8EB2-E	2LS2	8EC2	4EA2-E	6EX2-A	4LS2
8EB2-M	2LS2	8EC2	4EA2-M	6EX2-A	2LS2
8EB2-E	2LS3			6EX2-A	2LS3
8EB2-M	2LS3	8EC2	8EB2-E		

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatible Cls		<u>Compatible</u>	Compatible Cls		Compatible Cls	
6EX2-A	4SF2	6LO2	6LS2	4LR2	4SF2	
6EX2-B	4SF2	6LO2	4LS2	4LR3	4SF2	
		6LO2	2LS2			
6G02	6GS2	6LO2	2LS3	6LS2	2LA2	
6G02	4GS2	4LO2	6LS2	4LS2	2LA2	
6GO2	2GS2	4LO2	4LS2	4LS3	2LA2	
6GO2	2GS3	4LO3	6LS2	2LS2	2LA2	
4GO3	6GS2	4LO3	4LS2	2LS3	2LA2	
4GO3	6GS2	4LO3	2LS3			
4GO2	4GS2	4LO3	2LS2	6LS2	2LB2	
4GO3	4GS2	4LO3	2LS2	4LS2	2LB2	
4GO2	2GS2	4LO3	2LS3	4LS3	2LB2	
4GO2	2GS3	2LO3	2LS3	2LS2	2LB2	
4GO3	2GS2	2LO3	2LS2	2LS3	2LB2	
4GO3	2GS3	2LO2	2LS2			
2GO2	2GS2	2LO2	2LS3	6LS2	2LC2	
2GO3	2GS2			4LS2	2LC2	
2GO2	2GS3	6LO2	4SF2	4LS3	2LC2	
2GO3	2GS3	4LO2	4SF2	2LS2	SLC2	
		4LO3	4SF2	2LS3	2LC2	
6GO2	4SF2					
4GO2	4SF2	4LR3	4LR2	6LS2	2LO3	
4GO3	4SF2	4LR3	2LR2	6LS2	2LO2	
		4LR2	4LR2	4LS2	2LO2	
6GS2	2GO2	4LR2	2LR2	4LS2	2LO3	
4GS2	4GO2	2LR2	2LR2	4LS3	2LO2	
4GS3	2G02	2LR3	2LR2	4LS3	2LO3	
4GS2	2GO3					

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compatib	le Cls	<b>Compatibl</b>	e Cls	Compati	ble Cls
6LS2	4SF2	4SF3	9DY2	4SF3	2LA2
4LS3	4SF2	4SF2	9DY3		
		4SF3	6DY3	4SF2	2LB2
4NO2	6DA2	4SF2	6DY2	4SF3	2LB2
4NO2	4DA2	4SF2	6DY3		
4NO3	2DA2	4SF3	6DY2	4SF2	2LC2
2NO2	6DA2	4SF2	4DY2	4SF3	2LC2
2NO2	4DA2	4SF3	4DY2		
2NO2	2DA2	4SF3	2DY2	4SF2	2LO3
4NO2	4DE2	4SF2	2DY2	4SF3	2LO3
4NO2	2DE2				
4NO2	4NO2	4SF3	9EA2	4SF2	2LR2
4NO2	2NO2	4SF3	9EA3	4SF3	4LR2
2NO2	2NO2	4SF3	4EA2-E	4SF3	2LR2
2NO3	2NO2	4SF3	4EA2-M		
				4SF3	6LS2
2NO3	2PR2	4SF3	6EB2-E	4SF2	4LS2
		4SF3	6EB2-M	4SF3	4LS2
4RV2-0	4LRV2-T	4SF2	2GO3	4SF2	2LS2
4RV2-0	2RV2-T	4SF3	6GS2	4SF2	2LS3
2RV2-0	2RV2-T	4SF2	6GS2	4SF3	2LS2
		4SF2	4GS2	4SF3	2LS3
4RV2-0	4SF2	4SF3	4GS2		
		4SF2	2GS2	4SF3	4RV2-T
4SF2	4AC2	4SF2	2GS3	4SF2	4RV2-T
4SF2	2AC2	4SF3	2GS2	4SF2	2RV2-T
		4SF3	2GS3	4SF3	2RV2-T
4SF3	9DY3				
4SF2	9DY2	4SF2	2LA2	4SF3	4SF3

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service (cont'd.)</u>
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)

The following tables show the channel interface codes (CIs) which are compatible:

1) <u>Voice Grade</u> (cont'd.)

Compati	ble Cls
4SF3	4SF2
4SF2	4SF2
4TF2	4TF2
4TF2	2TF2
2TF3	2TF2

# 2) Digital <u>Data</u>

Compatible Cls		Compatible Cls		Compatible Cls	
4DS8-15	4DS8-15+	4DS8-15	6DU5-48		
4DS8-15	4DUR-24	4DS8-15	6DU5-56	4DU5-96	4DU5-96
4DS8-15	4DU5-48	4DS8-15	6DU5-96	6DU5-24	6DU5-24
4DS8-15	4DU5-56	4DU5-24	4DU5-24	6DU5-48	6DU5-48
4DS8-15	4DU5-96	4DU5-48	4DUR-48	6DU5-56	6DUR-56
4DS8-15	6DU5-24	4DU5-56	4DU5-56	6DU5-96	6DUR-96

<sup>+</sup> Available only as a cross connect of two digital channels at appropriate digital speeds at a Telephone Company Hub.

Section 3 Original Page 71

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.3 <u>Channel Interface and Network Channel Codes</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) <u>Compatible Channel Interfaces</u> (cont'd.)
      - 3) <u>High Capacity</u>

Compatible Cls		Compatible Cls		
4DSO-63	4DSO-63	4DS8-15	4DU8-B	
4DSO-63	6DU8-A,B or C	4DS8-15J	6DU8-A	
4DSO-63	4DU8-A,B or C	4DS8-15J	4DU8-A	
4DS6-27	4DS6-27	4DS8-15K	6DU8-B	
4DS6-27	6DU8-A,B or C	4DS8-15K	4DU8-B	
4DS6-27	4DU8-A,B or C	4DS8-15K	6DU8-C	
4DS6-44	4DS6-44	4DS8-15K	4DU8-C	
4DS6-44	6DU8-A,B, or C	4DS9-31	4DS9-31	
4DS6-44	4DU8-A,B or C	4DS9-31	6DU8-A,B or C	
4DS8-15	4DS8-15+	4DS9-31	4DU8-A,B or C	
4DS8-15J	4DS8-15J	4DU8-A,B or C	4DU8-A,B or C	
4DS8-15K	4DS8-15K			
4DS8-15	6DU8-B			

<sup>+</sup> Available only as a cross connect of two digital channels at appropriate digital speeds at a Telephone Company Hub.

## 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

## 3.2.4 Rate Regulations

This section contains the specific regulations governing the rates and charges that apply for Special Access Service.

## A) Types of Rates and Charges

There are two types of rates and charges. These are monthly rates and nonrecurring charges. The rates and charges are described as follows:

#### 1) Monthly Rates

Monthly rates are flat recurring rates that apply each month or fraction thereof that a Special Access Services is provided. For billing purposes, each month is considered to have 30 days.

## 2) Nonrecurring Charges

Nonrecurring charges are one-time charges that apply for specific work activity (i.e., installation or change to an existing service). The types of nonrecurring charges that apply for Special Access Service are: installation of service, installation of optional features and functions, and service rearrangements.

## (a) <u>Installation of Service</u>

Nonrecurring charges apply to each service installed. The nonrecurring charges for the installation of service are set forth in 5.2 following as a nonrecurring charge for the Channel Termination rate element.

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - Rate Regulations (cont'd.) 3.2.4
    - A) Type of Rates and Charges (cont'd.)
      - 2) Nonrecurring Charges (cont'd.)
        - (b) Installation of Optional features and Functions

Nonrecurring charges apply for the installation of some of the optional features and functions available with Special Access Service. The charge applies whether the feature of function is installed coincident with the initial installation of service or at any time subsequent to the installation of service.

The optional features for which nonrecurring charges apply are:

- Voice Grade Data Capability
- Voice Grade Telephone Capability
- (c) Service Rearrangements

Service rearrangements are changes to existing (installed) services which do not result in either a change in the minimum period requirements (i.e., change in type of service or change in channel termination) or a change in the physical location of the point of termination at a customer designated premises. Changes in the physical location of the point of the termination are treated as moves and are described and charged for a set forth in 3.2.7 following.

The charge to the Customer for the service rearrangement is dependent on whether the change is administrative only in nature or involves actual physical change in service.

- 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.4 Rate Regulations (cont'd.)
    - A) Types of Rates and Charges (cont'd.)
      - 2) Nonrecurring Charges (cont'd.)
        - (c) Service Rearrangements (cont'd.)

Administrative changes will be made without charge(s) to the Customer. Administrative changes are as follows:

- Change of customer name,
- Change of customer of customer or customer's end user premises address when the change of address is not a result of a physical relocation of equipment,
- Change in billing data (name, address, or contact name or telephone number),
- Change or agency authorization,
- Change or customer circuit identification
- Change of billing account number
- Change of customer test line number
- Change of customer or customer's end user contact name or telephone number, and
- Change of jurisdiction.

All other service rearrangements will be charged for as follows:

- If the change involves the addition of another leg to an existing multipoint service, the nonrecurring charge for the channel termination rate element will apply. The charge will apply only for the leg that is being added.
- If the change involves the addition of an optional feature or function which has a separate nonrecurring charge, that nonrecurring charge will apply.

#### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

## 3.2.4 Rate Regulations (cont'd.)

- A) Types of Rates and Charges (cont'd.)
  - 2) <u>Nonrecurring Charges</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) <u>Service Rearrangements</u> (cont'd.)
      - If the change involves changing the type of signaling on a Voice Grade service, a charge equal to the Voice Grade channel termination rate element nonrecurring charge will apply. The charge will apply per service termination affected.
      - For all other changes, including the addition of optional features without separate nonrecurring charges, a charge equal to a channel termination rate element nonrecurring charge will apply. Only one such charge will apply per service, per change.

#### 3.2.5 Surcharge for Special Access Service

In addition to the rates and charges described in 3.2.4(A) preceding, there is a monthly Special Access Surcharge that may apply to Special Access Service.

## 3.2.6 Minimum Periods

The minimum service period for all services is one month.

#### 3.2.7 Moves

A move involves a change in the physical location of one of the following:

- The Point of termination at the customer's premises.
- The customer's premises.

Section 3 Original Page 76

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.7 Moves (cont'd.)

The charges for the move are dependent on whether the move is to a new location within the same building or to a different building.

#### A) Moves Within the Same Building

When the move is to a new location within the same building, the charge for the move will be an amount equal to one half of the nonrecurring (i.e., installation) charge for the service termination affected. There will be no change in the minimum period requirements.

#### B) Moves to a Different Building

Moves to a different building will be treated as a discontinuance and start of service and all associated nonrecurring charges will apply. New minimum period requirements will be established for the new service. The Customer will also remain responsible for satisfying all outstanding minimum period charges for the disconnected service.

#### 3.2.8 Mileage Measurement

The mileage to be used to determine the monthly rate for the Channel Mileage is calculated on the airline distance between the locations involved, i.e., the serving wire centers associated with two Customer designated premises, a serving wire center associated with a Customer designated premises and a telephone Company Hub, or two telephone Company Hubs. The serving wire center associated with a Customer designated premises is the serving wire center from which the Customer designated premises would normally obtain dial tone.

Mileage is shown in 5.2 following in terms of mileage bands. To determine the rate to be billed, first compute the mileage using the V&H coordinated method, as set forth in the NATIONAL EXCHANGE CARRIER ASSOCIATION TARIFF F.C.C. No. 4, then find the band into which the computed mileage falls and apply the rates shown for that band.

Effective: March 1, 2010 Issued: February 26, 2010

Section 3 Original Page 77

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

## 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.8 Mileage Measurement (cont'd.)

When the calculation results in a fraction of a mile, always round up to the next whole mile before determining the mileage band and applying the rates.

When Hubs are involved, mileage is computed and rates applied separately for each section of the Channel Mileage, i.e., Customer designated premises serving wire center to Hub, Hub to Hub and/or Hub to Customer designated premises serving wire center. However, when any service is routed through a Hub for purposes other than Customer specified bridging or multiplexing (e.g., the Telephone Company chooses to so route for test access purposes), rates will be applied only to the distance calculated between the serving wire centers associated with the Customer designated premises.

#### 3.2.9 Facility Hubs

A customer has the option of ordering Voice Grade facilities or analog or digital high capacity facilities (i.e., Group, Supergroup, Mastergroup, DS1, DS1C, DS2, DS3 or DS4) to a facility Hub for channelizing to individual services requiring lower capacity facilities (e.g., Voice, etc)

Different locations may be designated as Hubs for different facility capacities, e.g., multiplexing from digital to digital may occur at one location while multiplexing from digital to analog may occur at a different location.

Some of the types of multiplexing available include the following:

- from higher to lower bit rate
- from digital to voice frequency channels

End to end services may be provided on channels of these facilities to a Hub. The transmission performance for the end to end service provided between customer designated premises will be that of the lower capacity or bit rate. For example, when a 1.544 Mbps facility is multiplexed to voice frequency channels, the transmission performance of the channelized services will be Voice Grade, not High Capacity.

Section 3 Original Page 78

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

# 3.2.9 Facility Hubs (cont'd.)

The Telephone Company will commence billing the monthly rate for the facility to the Hub on the date specified by the Customer on the service order. Individual services utilizing these facilities may be installed coincident with the installation of the facility to the Hub, or may be ordered and/or installed at a later date, at the option of the Customer. The Customer will be billed for a Voice Grade or a high capacity analog or digital Channel termination, Channel Mileage (when applicable), and the multiplexer at the time the facility is installed. Individual service rates (by service type) will apply for a Channel termination and additional Channel Mileage (as required) for each channel Termination and additional Channel Mileage (as required) for each channelized service. These will be billed to the Customer as each individual service is installed.

Cascading multiplexing occurs when a high capacity analog or digital channel is de-multiplexed to provide channels with a lesser capacity and one of the lesser capacity channels is further de-multiplexed. For example, a Supergroup facility is de-multiplexed to five Group facilities and then one of the Group facilities is further de-multiplexed to individual Voice Grade channels.

When cascading multiplexing is performed, whether in the same or a different Hub, a charge for the additional multiplexing unit also applies. When cascading multiplexing is performed at different Hubbing locations, Channel Mileage charges also apply between the Hubs.

Issued: February 26, 2010 Effective: March 1, 2010

By: Cesar Caballero, Vice President Strategy 4001 Rodney Parham Road, Little Rock, AR 72212

Issued: Effective:

Section 3 Original Page 79

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

## 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.10 Shared Use Digital High Capacity Services

Shared use occurs when Special Access Service and Switched Access Service are provided over the same High Capacity facilities through a common interface. The facility will be ordered, provided and rated as Special Access Service (i.e., Channel Termination, Channel Mileage, as appropriate, and Multiplexer). The nonrecurring charge that applies when the shared use facility is installed will be the nonrecurring charge associated with the appropriate special High Capacity Channel Termination. Individual service (i.e., Switched or Special Access) nonrecurring charges will not apply to the individual channels of the shared use facility. Rating as Special Access will continue until such time as the Customer chooses to use a portion of the available capacity for providing Switched Access Service. As each individual channel is activated for switched Access Service, the Special Access Channel Termination and Channel Mileage rates will be reduced accordingly (e.g., 1/12th for a Group (i.e., WA10 service, 1/24th for a DS1 service. etc.). The Customer must place an order for each individual Switched or Special Access Service utilizing the Shared Use Facilities and specify the channel assignment for each such service.

Switched Access Service rates and charges as set forth 5.1 preceding will apply for each channel of the shared use facility that is used to provide Switched Access Service. Where Special Access Service is provided utilizing a channel of the shared facility to the Hub, High Capacity rates and charges will apply for the facility to the Hub as set forth preceding and individual service rates and charges will apply from the Hub to the Customer designated premises. The rates and charges that will apply to the portion form the Hub to the Customer designated premises will be dependent on the specific type of Special Access Service that is provided (e.g., Voice Grade, etc.). The applicable rates and charges will include a Channel Termination and Channel Mileage, if applicable. Rates and charges for optional features and functions, associated with the service, if any, will apply as set forth in 5.2 following.

Section 3 Original Page 80

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

## 3.2.11 DS3 High Capacity Service

#### A) General

44.736 Mbps (DS3) High Capacity Service is provided on a three capacity protected basis. Within each three capacity system, a customer may order individual or multiple DS3 service terminations up to the maximum number of three individual channels available within the system. DS3 service is provided with an electrical interface.

Separate service termination fixed and per mile rates apply for the first DS3 and for each additional service termination (maximum of two) ordered by the same customer between the same locations. The appropriate non-recurring charge will apply for each service termination installed (first and additional).

## B) Channel Termination Monthly Rates

The First Channel Termination monthly rates apply to the first service termination installed at a customer designated premises. When more than one DS3 service is ordered between the same two locations (i.e., customer designated premises to customer designated premises or a customer designated premises to a Telephone Company Hub), Additional Service Termination monthly rates apply for each service termination installed on the same or subsequent date at the same customer premises. Disconnection of any DS3 service will be based on ascending order (i.e., the last channel installed will be the first channel removed). The First Channel Termination rates remain in effect until all services are disconnected.

Section 3 Original Page 81

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

## 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

## 3.2.11 <u>DS3 High Capacity Service</u> (cont'd.)

## C) <u>Channel Termination Mileage Measurement</u>

The service termination rate element for DS3 service consists of a fixed rate and a per mile rate. A minimum of one fixed and one per mile rate always applies. The mileage used to determine the monthly rate for distance sensitive service terminations is the airline distance measured in increments of one mile, directly between the customer's designated premises and the Telephone Company serving wire center.

# D) <u>Notification of Discontinuance</u>

Notice of discontinuance must be given by the Customer at least thirty days prior to actual discontinuance. Monthly charges will apply for a period of thirty days from the date the Telephone Company receives discontinuance notification or until the requested discontinuance date, whichever period is longer.

#### E) Service Disconnect

When a customer requests the disconnect of a DS3 service in the three capacity system, the disconnect steps are applied on a last in, first out basis. When only the first DS3 service exits on a three capacity system, that service will be disconnected.

Section 3 Original Page 82

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

## 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

#### 3.2.12 Special Access Term Discount Plan

#### A) General

The Special Access term Discount Plan (TDP) applies to Special Access high Capacity DS1 (1.544Mbps) and DS3 (44.736 Mbps) Service. The channel termination, channel mileage termination (fixed), and channel mileage facility (per mile) rates may be discounted based on the length of the service commitment period selected by the Customer. Optional features and functions will not be included in TDP.

Access order charges as set forth in Section 5 preceding will apply for new services installed under a TDP, and are in addition to the nonrecurring charges associated with the installation of the DS1 or DS3 high capacity service as set forth in Section 5 following.

A TDP may be ordered in increments of one month, based on the following plan options;

Plan B: 24 - 35 months Plan C: 36 - 59 months

The Customer must specify the plan and the length of the service commitment period at the time the service is ordered (e.g., Plan C and 48 months).

All eligible high capacity rate elements for a given circuit (channel termination, channel mileage termination (fixed) and channel mileage facility (per mile)) must be ordered for the same commitment period with the same service date for the same customer designated premises or hubbing location.

Section 3 Original Page 83

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

## 3.2 Special Access Service (cont'd.)

## 3.2.12 Special Access Term Discount Plan (cont'd.)

## B) <u>Rate Changes</u>

In this section, the term PrateP refers to the charges associated with the entire circuit covered by a TDP. Rate increases or decreases will automatically be applied to the monthly rates for the remaining term of the TDP. If a Telephone Company initiated rate increase causes a customer's rates to exceed the original rates in effect at the beginning of the TDP, the Customer may cancel the TDP without incurring termination liability charges.

#### C) Moves

When an end user moves from one location to another, existing TDPs can be transferred with the services that were moved to the new location. Installation or move charges as set forth in Section 5 will apply.

## D) Extension of TDP Commitment Period

TDP commitment periods can be extended by the Customer at any time during the term of the plan, up to a maximum of 84 months. The number of months accrued in the current plan will apply toward the new plan selected. For example, a customer having completed 15 months of a 20-month commitment can extend the commitment to 30 months and pay service order charges. The first payment will be considered the 16th payment under the new 30-month Plan.

#### E) Upgrade in TDP Capacity (DS1 to DS3)

DS1 service ordered with a TDP may be upgraded to DS3 service without incurring termination liability charges. The Customer must subscribe to a new TDP for the DS3 service and pay the associated installation charges. The DS1 disconnect order and the DS3 installation order must be received by the Company at the same time.

Section 3 Original Page 84

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.2 Special Access Service

## 3.2.12 Special Access Term Discount Plan (cont'd.)

## F) Renewal of a TDP

Two options are available for renewing a TDP:

- (1) At the end of the TDP service commitment prior, the Customer may subscribe to a new TDP at the prevailing rates set forth in Section 5 following. If the Customer does not select a new TDP, the rates will convert to the prevailing month-to-month DS1 or DS3 rates set forth in Section 5 following.
- (2) At any time during the term of a TDP, the Customer may replace an existing TDP with a new TDP for the same circuit at the prevailing rates set forth in Section 5 following. The new TDP must have a term equal to or greater than the existing TDP. The termination liability charges discussed in (G) following will not apply for the TDP which has been replaced.

#### G) Discontinuance of Service/Termination Liabilities

If the Customer chooses to disconnect all or a portion of the TDP service prior to the expiration of the TDP period (except as noted in (B, (E) and (F) above), Termination Liability charges will apply to those circuits that are disconnected.

If a customer disconnects any portion of their TDP service prior to the end of month 12, the Customer will be liable for the 100% of the payments remaining for the first twelve months and 50% of the payments remaining for the rest of the Plan. if a customer disconnects any portion of their TDP service after the end of the 12th month, the Customer will be liable for 50% of the payments remaining for the rest of the Plan.

Section 3 Original Page 85

## SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

- 3.2 <u>Special Access Service</u> (cont'd.)
  - 3.2.12 Special Access Term Discount Plan (cont'd.)
    - G) <u>Discontinuance of Service/Termination Liabilities</u> (cont'd.)

For example, a customer disconnecting in the 10th month of a 55-month Plan owes 100% of 3 payments and 50% of 43 payments. A customer disconnecting in the 25th month of the same 55-month Plan owes 50% of 31 payments.

Section 3 Original Page 86

#### SERVICE AND RATE DESCRIPTIONS

#### 3.3 Miscellaneous Access Services

#### 3.3.1 Presubscription

- A) Presubscription is an arrangement whereby an end user may select and designate to the Company an Interexchange Carrier (IC) to access, without an access code, for completing intraLATA and interLATA calls. This IC is referred to as the end user's Primary Interexchange Carrier (PIC). End users are not required to choose the same IC for intraLATA and interLATA toll presubscription. The end user may select any IC that orders originating Feature Group D Switched Access Service at the end office that serves the end user. After the end user's initial selection of a predesignated IC, for any additional change in selection, a non-recurring charge, as set forth in Section 5.3.1 following applies.
- B) New end users who are served by end offices equipped with Feature Group D, will be asked to presubscribe to an IC at the time they place an order with the Company for Exchange Access Service. They may select either of the following options. There will be no additional charge for this initial selection
  - Designate an IC as a PIC and dial 101XXXX to reach other ICs.
  - Designate that they do not want to be presubscribed to any IC and choose to dial 101XXXX for all calls to all ICs.

Subsequent to the installation of Exchange Access Service, and after the end user's initial selection of a PIC, for any additional change in selection, a nonrecurring charge as set forth in Section 5.3.1 following applies. This charge is billed to the end user which is the subscriber to the Exchange Access Service and applies only for selection of an IC which provides Intrastate IntraLATA service.

Section 4 Original Page 1

#### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

#### 4.1 General

The Company will provide the following services:

- Automatic Number Identification (ANI)
- Billing Name and Address (BNA)
- Service Provider Number Portability (SPNP)
- Off-net Service

#### 4.2 Automatic Number Identification

Automatic Number Identification (ANI) provides the automatic transmission of a seven or ten digit number and information digits to the customer's premise for calls originating in the LATA, to identify the calling telephone number. The ANI feature is an end office software function which is associated on a call-by-call basis with (1) all individual transmission paths in a trunk group routed directly between an end office and a customer's premise or, where technically feasible, with (2) all individual transmission paths in a trunk group between an end office and an access tandem, and a trunk group between an access tandem and a customer's premise.

Section 4 Original Page 2

#### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

## 4.3 Billing Name and Address Service

Billing Name and Address (BNA) Service is the provision of the complete billing name, street address, city or town, state and zip code for a telephone number assigned by the Company.

BNA Service is provided for the sole purpose of permitting the Customer to bill its telephone communications service to its end users and may not be resold or used for any other purpose, including marketing activity such as market surveys or direct marketing by mail or by telephone.

The Customer may not use BNA information to bill for merchandise, gift certificates, catalogs or other services or products.

BNA Service is provided on both a manual and mechanized basis. On a manual basis, the information will be provided by voice telecommunications or by mail, as appropriate. On a mechanized basis, where available, the information will be entered on magnetic tape containing record customer messages.

BNA information is furnished for sent-paid, collect, bill to third number, 700 and 900 service messages and messages charged to a calling card that are resident in the Company's data base. In addition, BNA information for messages originated from data terminal numbers (DTNs) of data communications services is furnished on a manual basis only.

#### 4.3.1 Undertaking of The Company

A) A request for information on over 100 and up to 500 telephone numbers should be mailed to the Company. The Company will provide the response by first class U.S. Mail within ten (10) business days.

Section 4 Original Page 3

#### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

- 4.3 Billing Name and Address Service (cont'd.)
  - 4.3.1 <u>Undertaking of the Company</u> (cont'd.)
    - B) The Company will specify the format in which requests and tapes are to be submitted.
    - C) The BNA information will be provided for the calling number furnished to the extent a billing name and address exists in the Company Customer Information Database, including non-published and non-listed numbers. If the billing name and address information for a specific calling number is confidential due to legal, national security, end user or regulatory imposed requirements, the Company will provide an indicator on the confidential records.
    - D) The Company will provide the most current BNA information resident in its database. Due to normal end user account activity, there may be instances where the BNA information provided is not the BNS that was applicable at the time the message was originated.

Section 4 Original Page 4

#### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

## 4.3 Billing Name and Address Service (cont'd.)

## 4.3.2 Obligations of the Customer

- A) With each order for BNA Service, the Customer shall identify the authorized individual and address to receive the BNA information.
- B) A customer which orders BNA Service on a mechanized basis and which intends to submit tapes of record messages for processing must provide the Company with an acceptable test tape or transmission which includes all call types for which BNA information may be requested.
- C) The Customer shall institute adequate internal procedures to insure that BNA information, including that related to non-published and non-listed telephone numbers, is used only for the purpose set forth in this tariff and that BNA information is available only to those customer personnel or agents with a need to know the information. The Customer must handle all billing name and address information designated as confidential by the Company in accordance with the Company's procedures concerning confidential information. The Company will provide to the Customer a statement of its procedures concerning confidential information.
- D) The Customer shall not publicize or represent to others that the Company jointly participates with the Customer in the development of the Customer's end user records, accounts, data bases or market data, records, files and data bases or other systems it assembles through the use of BNA Service.

Section 4 Original Page 5

#### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

- 4.3 Billing Name and Address Service (cont'd.)
  - 4.3.2 <u>Obligations of the Customer</u> (cont'd.)
    - E) When the Customer orders BNA Service for both interstate and intrastate messages, the projected percentage of interstate use must be provided in a whole number to the Company. The Company will designate the number obtained by subtracting the projected interstate percentage from 100 (100-projected interstate percentage = intrastate percentage) as the projected intrastate percentage.

This whole number percentage will be used by the Company to apportion the recurring and nonrecurring charges between interstate and intrastate in those circumstances where the recorded message detail is not sufficient to permit the Company to determine the appropriate jurisdiction. This percentage will remain in effect until a revised report is received as set forth following.

Effective on the first of January, April, July and October of each year the Customer may update the jurisdictional report. The Customer shall forward to the Company, to be received no later than 20 calendar days after the first of each such month, a revised report showing the interstate percentage of use for the past three months ending the last day of December, March, June and September, respectively. Except where jurisdiction can be determined from the recorded message detail, the revised report will serve as the basis for the next three months billing and will be effective on the bill date in the following month (e.g., February, May, August and November). No prorating or back billing will be done based on the report. If the Customer does not supply the report, the Company will assume the percentages to be the same as those provided in the last quarterly report. For those cases in which a quarterly report has never been received from the Customer, the Company will assume the percentages to be the same as those provided in the order for service.

Section 4 Original Page 6

### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

- 4.3 Billing Name and Address Service (cont'd.)
  - 4.3.2 <u>Obligations of the Customer</u> (cont'd.)
    - F) The Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide accurate and complete lists. The company makes no warranties, expressed or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of these lists.

# 4.3.3 Rate Regulations

- A) For each order for BNA information received by the Company, a BNA order charge applies as set forth in Section 5.3.1 following.
- B) A charge applies for each request for BNA information for a telephone number or DTN number on a manual basis. A charge applies for each message processed to supply BNA information on a mechanized basis.
- C) If the Customer requests BNA information on a mechanized basis, and the Company is able to provide magnetic tape, a charge per tape also applies.

The Company will keep a count of the requests and of the messages processed. The Company will bill the Customer in accordance with these counts whether or not the Company was able to provide BNA information for all requests and messages.

Section 4 Original Page 7

### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

## 4.3 <u>Billing Name and Address Service (cont'd.)</u>

## 4.3.3 Rate Regulations (cont'd.)

C) Where the recorded message detail is sufficient to determine a message is an intrastate message, the rates set forth in 5.3.1 following apply to each such message.

Usage for which the recorded message detail is insufficient to determine jurisdiction will be prorated by the Company between interstate and intrastate.

The percentages provided in the reports as set forth in 4.3.2(E) preceding will serve as the basis for prorating the charges. The intrastate charges are determined as follows: For usage sensitive (e.g., requests or messages processed) chargeable rate elements, multiply the intrastate percent times actual use times the stated tariff rate.

D) When a customer cancels an order for BNA Service after the order date, the BNA order charge applies.

## 4.4 <u>Service Provider Number Portability</u>

### 4.4.1 <u>Service Provider Number Portability (SPNP) General Description</u>

SPNP allows, where facilities permit: (1) a local exchange telephone service customer to maintain the same Directory Number (DN) when changing from one telecommunications service provider to another while remaining at the same location; and (2) callers to complete calls to numbers that have been ported.

Section 4 Original Page 8

### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

## 4.4 <u>Service Provider Number Portability</u> (cont'd.)

### 4.4.2 SPNP and SPNP Database Service (SPNPDS) Service Description

SPNP is an advanced intelligent network capability which utilizes the common channel signaling network to query a database to secure network routing instructions before completion of a call. This database contains the Location Routing Number (LRN) that identifies the switch of the Local Service Provider (LSP) that serves a customer with a ported DN. The LRN is used to direct the call to the correct network switching element for completion to the end user customer. Where more than one network is involved in completing the call, the network prior to the termination (i.e., the N-1 network) is normally responsible for querying a SPNP database to secure the LRN which is then used in routing the call.

Where the N-1 Carrier does not perform a database query, and forwards a call to a switch in the Telephone Company's network for a NXX designated as a number portable code in the Local Exchange Routing Guide, the Telephone Company will perform a query for the N-1 Carrier and bill that N-1 carrier a SPNP query charge.

When the Telephone Company is the first point of switching for terminating traffic to another local exchange carrier (e.g., a Telephone Company tandem switch), the Telephone Company may perform the query on behalf of the N-1 carrier and bill the N-1 carrier a SPNP Query charge.

Where the N-1 Network queries the Telephone Company SPNP database, the Telephone Company will bill that N-1 Carrier a SPNP database query charge.

SPNP Database Service procedures will be applied uniformly to all users of the Telephone Company's SPNP Database Network. The Telephone Company SPNP Database will receive and respond to all queries, including the Telephone Company's queries as defined in the Technical Reference filed with this service.

Section 4 Original Page 9

### MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

- 4.4 Service Provider Number Portability (cont'd.)
  - 4.4.3 <u>Service Provider Number Portability Database Service (SPNPDS) Service Application</u>

The service arrangements of SPNPDS available through the Telephone Company's network are;

- SPNP Query
  - o Tandem
  - End Office
- SPNP Database Query

Following are detailed descriptions of the available service applications.

### A) SPNP Query

When the Telephone Company performs a query on behalf of the N-1 carrier, the Telephone Company's end office or access tandem switch will suspend call processing, formulate and launch a query via the common channel signaling network to a SPNP database to obtain information necessary to route calls to numbers in portable NXX codes. When the necessary routing information has been returned from the SPNP database to the switch originating the query, call processing is resumed and the call is routed to the correct network switching element for completion to the called party.

When a Telephone Company tandem switch performs the query on behalf of the N-1 carrier, an SPNP Query-Tandem charge is applied whenever the call is to an NXX from which a DN has been ported.

Section 4 Original Page 10

### **MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES**

- 4.4 Service Provider Number Portability (cont'd.)
  - 4.4.3 <u>Service Provider Number Portability Database Service (SPNPDS) Service</u>
    Application (cont'd.)
    - A) <u>SPNP Query</u> (cont'd.)

When a Telephone Company end office switch performs the query on behalf of the N-1 carrier, an SPNP Query-End Office charge will apply when the called DN has ported out of the Telephone Company switch.

B) SPNP Database Query

N-1 carriers may query the Telephone Company's SPNP database interconnecting with the Telephone company's common channel signaling network. This is an optional service.

N-1 carriers may arrange in advance to query, via the common channel signaling network, the Telephone company's SPNP database with contains information necessary to route calls to number portable NXX codes. When the necessary routing information has been returned from the SPNP database to the switch originating the query, call processing is resumed by the originating N-1 carrier, and the call is routed to the correct network switching element for completion to the called party. The N-1 carrier will be assessed a SPNP Database Query Charge on all queries to the SPNP Database.

Section 4 Original Page 11

### **MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES**

- 4.4 <u>Service Provider Number Portability</u> (cont'd.)
  - 4.4.3 <u>Service Provider Number Portability Database Service (SPNPDS) Service Application (cont'd.)</u>
    - C) <u>SPNPDS Service Provisioning</u>
      - 1) Network Management

The Telephone Company will administer its network to ensure the provision of acceptable service levels to all telecommunications users of the Telephone Company's network services.

The Telephone Company maintains the right to apply automated or manual protective controls which would generally be applied as a result of occurrences such as failure or overload of Telephone company facilities, customer facilities, or other networks, natural disasters, mass calling, or national security demands.

## D) <u>Rate Regulations</u>

The rates and charges associated with SPNPDS which are "query" based will be billed monthly, based on recorded usage. For billing purposes, each month is considered to have thirty (30) days.

### 1) Rate Elements

The following identifies the SPNP rate elements.

- SPNP Query
  - Tandem
  - o End Office
- SPNP Database Query

### **MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES**

- 4.4 Service Provider Number Portability (cont'd.)
  - 4.4.3 <u>Service Provider Number Portability Database Service (SPNPDS) Service Application</u> (cont'd.)
    - D) <u>Rate Regulations</u> (cont'd.)
      - 1) Rate Elements (cont'd.)
        - a) <u>SPNP Query</u>

The SPNP Query rate element provides for the identification of the LRN information associated with the directory number including transport of the query to and from the database. This charge is assessed at either a Tandem or End Office rate depending on where the query was launched.

- 1) SPNP Query Tandem Query Charges are assessed to each non-queried call delivered at the Telephone Company Tandem to numbers in NXXs from which a DN has ported. This charge is also assessed when the N-1 carrier delivers calls to other LECs through a Telephone Company Tandem.
- 2) SPNP Query End Office Query Charges are assessed to each non-queried call to a Directory Number that has been ported out of a Telephone company end office switch, and the end office switch performs the query.
- 3) The SPNP Database Query rate element provides for the identification of the LRN associated with the directory number being queried including transport from the Telephone Company STP to the SPNP database. This charge will be assessed to each query made to the SPNP Database.

Section 4 Original Page 13

## MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

## 4.5 Off-Net Service

Off-net Service is service to the customer's physical location provided through the use, purchase or lease of the facilities of another local access provider.

## 4.5.1 Operational Support Systems (OSS) Charge

The Operational Support Systems (OSS) charge is assessed on each off-net line. This charge helps to recover a portion of the costs payable by the Company to other carriers or entities associated with the provision of off-net services.

Section 5 Third Revised Page 1 Cancels Second Revised Page 1

## **RATES**

5.1	Switched	Access	Rates
J.1	D WILCIICU	1100000	Tutos

5.1.1	<u>Servi</u>	ce Order	<u>'S</u>		Nonrecurring Charge Per	
	A)	Servi	ce Implei	mentation	Order	
		1)	- Per T	ation Charge Frunk or Out of Ban aling Connection	\$20.54	
		2)	Engine	eering Charge  Additional Engineering  Periods  Basic Time, regularly	Thereof	
				scheduled working hou per engineer	s150.00	
			В.	Overtime, outside of regularly scheduled working hours, per engineer	\$200.00	
		3)	Acces	s Order Charge	\$110.00	
					Nonrecurring Charge Per Order	
	B) C) D)	Desig	ce Date On Chang lited Ord	e	\$34.00 \$34.00 \$115.00	
5.1.2	<u>Carri</u>	er Comn	non Line			
	A) Ra	Non 8	riginatin SYY Trat Traffic	g Access Minute	\$0.015906 \$0.000000 ( <b>D</b> )	(C)
	D) D			M	Φ0.000000 ( <b>D</b> )	<b>(C)</b>

Issued: June 1, 2021 Effective: July 1, 2021

\$0.000000

B) Rate per Terminating Access Minute

## Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6

Windstream D&E Systems, Inc.

Section 5 Original Page 2

## **RATES**

- 5.1 <u>Switched Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)
  - 5.1.3 <u>Local Transport</u>
    - A) <u>Common Channel Signaling Access Service</u>

<u>Rate</u>

1) STP Access Mileage

- Per Month, per mile \$4.00

2) STP Port Termination

- Per Month, per port \$932.58

Section 5 Original Page 3

## **RATES**

- 5.1 Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)
  - 5.1.3 <u>Local Transport</u> (cont'd.)
    - B) Nonchargeable Optional Features
      - 1) **Supervisory Signaling**

DX Supervisory Signaling arrangement -Per Transmission Path

SF Supervisory Signaling arrangement -Per Transmission Path

E&M Type I Supervisory Signaling arrangement -Per Transmission Path

E&M Type II Supervisory Signaling arrangement -Per Transmission Path

E&M Type III Supervisory Signaling arrangement (available with FGD) -Per Transmission Path

Customer specification of the receive 2) transmission level at the first point of switching within a range acceptable to the Company (available with FGB) -Per Transmission Path

Section 5 Original Page 4

## **RATES**

- 5.1 <u>Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)</u>
  - 5.1.3 <u>Local Transport (cont'd.)</u>
    - C) Nonchargeable Optional Features (cont'd.)
      - 3) Customer specification of Local Transport Termination
        Four-wire termination in lieu of two-wire termination
        (available with FGB)
        -Per Transmission Path
      - 4) Signaling System 7-Per signaling connection arranged
      - 5) 64 kbps Clear Channel Capability -Per Transmission Path
    - D) Common Transport Facility

## Host/Remote

1) Fixed/Per Access Minute \$0.00

2) Per Mile/Per Minute \$0.00

Supplement No. 8 to Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 Section 5 Third Revised Page 5 Cancels Second Revised Page 5

Windstream D&E Systems, Inc.

### **RATES**

#### 5.1 Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)

### 5.1.4 End Office

## **Local Switching**

### Per Access Minute

1)	Originating Traffic		
	Non-8YY Traffic	\$0.006953	<b>(C)</b>
	8YY Traffic		- 1
	Effective July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022	\$0.005500 ( <b>D</b> )	- 1
	Effective July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023	\$0.002750 ( <b>D</b> )	- 1
	Effective on and after July 1, 2023	\$0.000000 ( <b>D</b> )	<b>(C)</b>
	Terminating Traffic	\$0.000000	

#### Common Switching Chargeable Optional Features 2)

Automatic Number Identification/ **Monthly NRC** \$0.0004 (available with FGB and FGD) \$67.50 -Per Transmission Path Group

-Per Call/FGB

Up to seven Digit Outpulsing of Access Digits to Customer (available with FGB) -Per Transmission Path Group

Service Class Routing (available with FGD) -Per Transmission Path Group

Alternate Traffic Routing (available with FGD) -Per Transmission Path Group

**International Carrier Option** (available with FGD) -Per End Office and Access Tandem

Issued: June 1, 2021 Effective: July 1, 2021

Supplement No. 7 to Telephone-PA P.U.C. Access No. 6 Section 5 Fourth Revised Page 6 Cancels Third Revised Page 6

Windstream D&E Systems, Inc.

## **RATES**

#### 5.1 Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)

#### 5.1.4 End Office (cont'd.)

## <u>Local Switching</u> (cont'd.)

2	<u> </u>	C'4 -1-' N	T (1. 1 1. 1 -	O 4 1 E 4	( 41.1 \
2)	Lommon	NWITCHING IN	Non-i nargeanie	Untional Beatilites i	CONTAI
	Common	D WILCINII Z I	TOII-CHAI ECAUIC	Optional Features (	(COIII G.)

SS7 Signaling Option -Calling Party Number (available with FGD)

-Carrier Selection Parameter (available with FGD)

July 1, 2017 to July 28, 2017

On and After July 29, 2017

CenturyLink

3)	Composite	Terminating	End	Office	Charge,	per	terminating	<b>(C)</b>
	access minu	ite.						(C)

July 1, 2017 to July 28, 2017		<b>(C)</b>
Verizon Pennsylvania	\$0.00070	 
Verizon North	\$0.00070	<b>(C)</b>
CenturyLink	\$0.00070	(C) (D) (D)
O 1 A.C I-1- 20 2017		<b>(D)</b>

\$0.00000

Verizon Pennsylvania	\$0.00000
Verizon North	\$0.00000

Effective: July 1, 2017 Issued: June 1, 2017

Section 5

Third Revised Page 7 Cancels Second Revised Page 7

**(C)** 

## **RATES**

## 5.1 <u>Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)</u>

## 5.1.5 Toll Free 800 Series Data Base Access Service

	<u>Rate</u>	
Customer Identification Charge		
-Per Query (Basic)*		<b>(C)</b>
Effective July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022		
Verizon PA	\$0.0030890 ( <b>D</b> )	
Verizon North	\$0.0032500	
CenturyLink	\$0.0032500	
Effective July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023		
Verizon PA	\$0.0016445 ( <b>D</b> )	
Verizon North	\$0.0017250 ( <b>D</b> )	
CenturyLink	\$0.0017250 ( <b>D</b> )	
Effective on and after July 1, 2023		
Verizon PA	\$0.0002000 ( <b>D</b> )	
Verizon North	\$0.0002000 ( <b>D</b> )	
CenturyLink	\$0.0002000 ( <b>D</b> )	<b>(C)</b>

\* Includes Vertical Features.

Some material previously located on this page is now located in Section 5, Original Page 7.1

Issued: June 1, 2021 Effective: July 1, 2021

\$161.25

\$161.25

## **RATES**

## 5.1 <u>Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)</u>

## 5.1.6 Switched Transport

DS3

1)	Entrance Facilities	Nonrecurring					
	Voice Grade	Monthly Rate	<u>Initial</u>	<b>Additional</b>			
	2-Wire	\$40.00	\$795.00	\$270.00			
	4-Wire	\$55.00	\$795.00	\$270.00			
	DS1	\$188.06	\$353.96	\$300.00			
	-per arrangement		\$290.00	\$145.00			
	DS3						
	-Electrical Interface	\$2,300.77	\$342.00	\$342.00			
	-Optical Interface	\$2,300.77	\$342.00	\$342.00			
2)	Tandem-Switched Transpor	<u>rt</u>	Per N	<u>MOU</u>			
			<u>Fixed</u>	Per Mile			
	Tandem Switching, Per Ori	iginating MOU	N/A				
	Tandem Switching, Per Ter	rminating MOU	N/A				
	Tandem Transport, Per Ori	ginating MOU					
	Non-8YY Traffic		\$0.003758	\$0.0013008	<b>(C)</b>		
	8YY Traffic		\$0.000000 ( <b>D</b> )	\$0.0000000 ( <b>D</b> )	<b>(C)</b>		
	Tandem Transport, Per Ter	minating MOU					
	- Verizon PA and Verizon	n North	\$0.0000000	\$0.0000020			
	- CenturyLink		\$0.0004490	\$0.0000220			
3)	<u>Direct-Trunked Transport</u>		Per N	<u>Ionth</u>			
			<u>Fixed</u>	Per Mile			
	Voice Grade			\$4.00			
	DS1		\$70.00	\$20.45			

Some material now located on this page was previously located in Section 5, 2<sup>nd</sup> Revised Page 7

-Electrical .......\$825.00

-Optical ......\$825.00

Issued: June 1, 2021 Effective: July 1, 2021

Senior Regulatory Counsel 4001 Rodney Parham Road, Little Rock, AR 72212

5.1.7

Fifth Revised Page 7.1 Cancels Fourth Revised Page 7.1

\$0.00070

\$0.00070

## **RATES**

5.1 <u>Switched Access Rates (cont'd.)</u>
--------------------------------------------

Toll V	OIP-PSTN Traffic	
	<del></del>	<u>Rate</u>
(A)	<u>Tandem Switched Facility</u> , per access minute per mile <u>Non-8YY Traffic</u>	(C)
	Verizon Pennsylvania & Verizon North	\$0.000002
	CenturyLink	\$0.000022
	8YY Traffic, all areas	\$0.000000 ( <b>D</b> ) ( <b>C</b> )
(B)	<u>Tandem Switched Termination</u> , per access minute per Te <u>Non-8YY Traffic</u>	ermination (C)
	Verizon Pennsylvania & Verizon North	\$0.000000
	CenturyLink	\$0.000449
	8YY Traffic, all areas	\$0.000000 ( <b>D</b> ) ( <b>C</b> )
(C)	Tandem Switching  – per access minute per Tandem	N/A
(D)	Local Switching – per Originating access minute	\$0.000000
(E)	Composite Terminating End Office Charge, per termina	ting access minute
	July 1, 2017 to July 28, 2017	
	Verizon Pennsylvania	\$0.00070

On and After July 29, 2017

Verizon North

CenturyLink

Verizon Pennsylvania\$0.00000Verizon North\$0.00000CenturyLink\$0.00000

Issued: June 1, 2021 Effective: July 1, 2021

Senior Regulatory Counsel 4001 Rodney Parham Road, Little Rock, AR 72212

Section 5 Original Page 8

## **RATES**

## 5.2 Special Access Rates

## 5.2.1 <u>Voice Grade Service</u>

(a)

A)	Channel Termination	Monthly Rates	Nonrecurring <u>Charges</u>
,	- Per point of Termination		
	- Two-Wire	\$13.60	\$295.00
	- Four-Wire	\$13.60	\$295.00
B)	Channel Mileage	Monthly	<u>/ Rates</u>
		<u>Fixed</u> \$16.00	<u>Per Mile</u> \$2.50
C)	Optional Features and Functions		
	1) Bridging		
		Monthly	Nonrecurring
		<u>Rates</u>	<u>Charges</u>

\$3.19

\$3.19

\$6.29

\$10.45

Issued: February 26, 2010 Effective: March 1, 2010

Voice Bridging Two-Wire/Four/Wire

- Per Port- Two-Wire

- Four Wire

## **RATES**

## 5.2 <u>Special Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)

## 5.2.1 <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)

1)

2)

3)

4)

C) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)

Bridging (cont'd.)

		Monthly Rates	Nonrecurring Charges
(b)	Data Bridging Two-Wire/Four-Wire - Per Port		
	- Two-Wire	\$5.27	\$6.29
	- Four Wire	\$5.27	\$10.45
(c)	Telephoto Bridging		
	Two-Wire/Four/Wire		
	- Per Port		
	- Two-Wire	\$6.59	\$6.29
	- Four Wire	\$6.59	\$10.45
Condi	tioning		
- Per p	point of termination		
	C-Type	\$6.55	\$11.04
	Sealing Current	None	None

\$1.95

\$1.95

**ICB** 

\$13.59

\$24.68

\$9.63

Issued: February 26, 2010 Effective: March 1, 2010

Improved Return Loss for Effective Two-Wire or Four-Wire Transmission

Customer Specified Receive Level - Per Two-Wire point of termination

- Per point of termination - Two-Wire

- Four-Wire

Section 5 Original Page 10

## **RATES**

- 5.2 <u>Special Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)
  - 5.2.1 <u>Voice Grade Service</u> (cont'd.)
    - C) Optional Features and Functions (cont'd.)

		Monthly <u>Rates</u>	Nonrecurring Charges
5)	Data Capability - Per point of termination	None	\$30.00
6)	Telephoto Capability - Per point of termination	\$9.40	\$22.20
7)	Signaling Capability - Per point of termination	\$6.25	\$15.00
8)	Selective Signaling Arrangement	nt \$11.90	None

Section 5 Original Page 11

## **RATES**

# 5.2 <u>Special Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)

# 5.2.2 <u>Digital Data Service</u>

			Monthly	Nonrecurring
			Rates	<u>Charges</u>
A)	Channe	el Termination		
-		nt of termination		
	•	- 2.4 kbps	\$55.00	\$600.00
		- 4.8 kbps	\$85.00	\$600.00
		- 9.6 kbps	\$90.00	\$600.00
		- 56.0 kbps	\$137.50	\$600.00
			Monthly 1	Rates
			<u>Fixed</u>	Per Mile
B)	Channe	el Mileage		
	1)	2.4 kbps	\$25.00	\$2.00
	2)	4.8 kbps	\$25.00	\$2.00
	3)	9.6 kbps	\$25.00	\$2.00
	4)	56 kbps	\$25.00	\$2.00
			Monthly	Nonrecurring
<i>a</i> )	04:	-1 E-strong and E-math	Rates	<u>Charges</u>
C)	Option	al Features and Functions		

\$7.72

\$10.45

Issued: February 26, 2010 Effective: March 1, 2010

Bridging-Per Port

1)

Section 5 Original Page 12

## **RATES**

#### 5.2 Special Access Rates (cont'd.)

# 5.2.3 <u>High Capacity Service</u>

			Monthly Rates	Nonrecurring Charges
A)		el Termination oint of termination	<u>runos</u>	<u>Onarges</u>
		- 1.544 Mbps	\$210.00	\$930.00
		- 44.736 Mbps, First DS3	\$3130.00	\$1800.00
		Additional DS3 (maximum of two)	\$ 180.00	\$ 85.00
			Monthly 1	
B)	Chann	el Mileage	<u>Fixed</u>	Per Mile
	1)	1.544Mbps	\$75.00	\$25.00
	2)	44.736 Mbps	\$900.00	\$180.00

Section 5 Original Page 13

## **RATES**

## 5.2 <u>Special Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)

5.2.3	High	Capacity	Service (	(cont'd.	)

High C	<u> арасну</u>	Service (cont d.)	Monthly Rates	Nonrecurring Charges
C)	Option	nal Features and Functions		
	1)	Multiplexing		
		DS3 to DS1 - Per arrangement	\$555.00	\$500.00
		DS1 to Voice *	\$435.00	\$118.00
		DS1 to DS0	ICB	ICB
		DS0 to Subrates - Per arrangement		
		<ul><li>- Up to 20 2.4 kbps</li><li>- Up to 10 4.8 kbps</li><li>- Up to 5 9.6 kbps</li></ul>	ICB ICB ICB	ICB ICB ICB
	2)	Automatic Loop Transfer - Per arrangement +	ICB	ICB

<sup>\*</sup> A channel of the DS1 to the Hub can be used for a Digital Data Service

<sup>+</sup> An additional Channel Termination charge will apply whenever the spare line is provided as a leg to the customer's premises.

Section 5 Original Page 14

### **RATES**

- 5.2 <u>Special Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)
  - 5.2.4 Special Access term Discount Plan
    - A) Channel Termination Monthly Nonrecurring Rate Charge
      - 1) 1.544 Mbps
        - (a) Plan B (24-35 Months)
           Per Point of Termination

\$204.00 \$309.00

(b) Plan C (36-59 Months)
- Per Point of Termination

\$194.00 \$309.00

- 2) 44.736 Mbps
  - (a) Plan B (24-35 Months)

First DS3 - Per Point of Termination

Monthly Rate

Nonrecurring

<u>Fixed</u> <u>Charge</u>

\$1,359.00 \$342.00

(b) Plan C (36-59 Months)

First DS3 - Per Point of Termination

Monthly Rate

Nonrecurring

<u>Fixed</u> <u>Charge</u> \$1,323.00 \$342.00

Section 5 Original Page 15

## **RATES**

- 5.2 <u>Special Access Rates</u> (cont'd.)
  - 5.2.4 Special Access Term Discount Plan (cont'd.)
    - B) Channel Mileage
      - 1) 1.544 Mbps
        - (a) Channel Mileage Termination (Fixed Per Month)

Plan B	Plan C
24-35	36-59
Months	Months
\$77.00	\$72.00

(b) Channel Mileage Facility (Per Month - Per Mile)

Plan B	Plan C
24-35	36-59
Months	Months
\$17.80	\$16.80

- 2) 44.736 Mbps
  - (a) Channel Mileage Termination (Fixed Per Month)

Plan B	Plan C
24-35	36-59
Months	Months
\$595.00	\$525.00

(b) Channel Mileage Facility (Per Month - Per Mile)

Plan B	Plan C
24-35	36-59
Months	Months
\$204.00	\$180.00

Section 5 Original Page 16

# **RATES**

5.3	Miscellaneous Access Rates		Nonrecurring Charge		
	5.3.1	<u>Presubscription</u>			
		- change in intraLATA Toll Presubscription	\$5.00 - per line		
		- unauthorized Business or Residence service change in intraLATA Toll Presubscription	\$35.65 - per line		
5.4	Misce	llaneous Rates	Nonrecurring Charge		
	5.4.1	BNA Order Charge per Order BNA Charge per record Magnetic Tape Charge per Tape Data Transmission/per record	\$50.94 \$ 0.06 \$29.50 \$0.0035		
	5.4.2	Service Provider Number Portability			
		Rates and Charges SPNP Query -Tandem -End Office	Rate Per Query \$.000926 \$.000926 \$.000926		
		SPNP Database Query	\$.000648		
	5.4.3	Operational Support Systems (OSS)	Monthly Charge		
-		Per off-net line	\$0.82		
Issued	d: Febru	ary 26, 2010	Effective: March 1, 2010		